Annual REPORT
ㅰ ⌔ 2013
TOWARDS THE PINNACLE OF THE SHIPPING INDUSTRY

Mission and Vision
Our vision is to become a key player in the global
marine and offshore industry. We strive to provide
innovative and integrated solutions optimised for
our customers’ needs along the entire marine
business value chain, including shipbuilding
project management and consultancy services,
design and engineering, shipbuilding (outsourced)
and ship trading related businesses.
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AVIC International Maritime Holdings Limited (“AVIC Maritime”), together with its subsidiaries,
(the “Group”) (㺲⧗⥖⭠╒⏚ⶨ⤥㱸㦎⤇㙶), is a member of the Aviation Industry Corporation of
China (“AVIC”) (㺲⥖⧗ⶥ⤀㮟⭅㟹⤇㙶) group of companies (the “AVIC Group”).
As an active player in the marine and offshore industry,
AVIC Maritime strives to provide innovative and integrated
solutions optimised to meet customers’ needs along
the entire marine business value chain. Our extensive
range of services includes shipbuilding project
management and consultancy (“M&C Services”),
design and engineering, shipbuilding (outsourced)
as well as ship trading related businesses.

Republic of China (“PRC”) Central Government, with
key business units such as defence, transport aircraft,
aviation engine, helicopters, avionics, general
aviation aircraft, aviation research and development,
flight test, trade and logistics, and asset management.
AVIC Maritime’s association with the AVIC Group gives
us the competitive edge of getting strong support from
major financial institutions in the PRC.

AVIC Maritime’s track record in shipbuilding M&C
Services dates back to 1994 and has over the years,
established strong relationships with many reputable
ship-owners worldwide. Forging ahead with our strategy
to expand along the ship design, shipbuilding and
ship trading related businesses value chain, the Group
acquired a Finnish design and engineering firm, Deltamarin
Ltd. (“Deltamarin”), in January 2013, to enhance our ship
design capability. Established since 1990, Deltamarin is
a forerunner in naval architecture and engineering, and
an experienced developer of profitable, sustainable
and cost-efficient vessels.

Led by an experienced and driven management
team with in-depth industry knowledge, coupled with
our ability to leverage on the AVIC Group’s excellent
business relationships, strong fundamentals and global
business network, AVIC Maritime is well-positioned
to become a key player in the global marine and
offshore industry.

Ranked 212 amongst Fortune Global 500 companies
in 20131, the AVIC Group is one of the largest industrial
groups authorised and managed by the People’s
1

AVIC Maritime was ranked 396 out of 663 in the
Governance and Transparency Index (“GTI”) 2013.
The study was conducted by the NUS Business School’s
Centre for Governance, Institutions and Organisations
(“CGIO”) and The Business Times, and is supported by
the Investment Management Association of Singapore,
the Singapore Business Federation and the Singapore
Accountancy Commission.

Source: http
p:///money.c
cn n.co
o m/ma
a gazz iness/fortt une//glob
bal5
5 00/2
2 013/m
m apshott s/1156
6 6 .html
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Our Business and Strategy
OUR VISION

OUR STRATEGY

To become a key player in the global marine and offshore industry.

Our long-term strategy is to develop our existing shipbuilding project management and consultancy business, as
well as expand our scope of capabilities along the ship design, shipbuilding and ship trading related businesses
value chain.

OUR BUSINESS
SHIPBUILDING PROJECT M&C

DESIGN & ENGINEERING

6HUYLFHVLQFOXGHVKLSGHVLJQFRQVWUXFWLRQ
(outsourced), procurement, newbuilding
management and marine finance arrangement
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2XU*URXSDOVRZRUNVZLWKRWKHU
established and reputable
shipyards around the world
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A key player in the
global marine and
offshore industry

2IIHUDQLQWHJUDWHGSURFXUHPHQW
service which extends from market
analysis to acquisition of goods
and delivery to the door
/HYHUDJLQJRQRXU*URXS·VVWUHQJWKV
and in-depth product knowledge, we are
able to provide specialist technical support
efficiently and our strong network allows us
to source for competitively-priced quality
products from around the world

Enhance research and
development capabilities

Provide greater variety
of financing arrangements
and value-added services

SHIP TRADING

DI

7KHWKUHHVKLS\DUGVDUHFDSDEOHRI
producing a wide variety of vessels
and marine-related products

,WVZLGHUDQJHRIVHUYLFHVLQFOXGHV
concept development, offshore
engineering, construction engineering for
shipbuilding and operation support

S

UIL

2XU*URXS·VLQGLUHFWPDMRU
shareholder, AVIC International
Holding Corporation, through its
subsidiaries, owns substantial stakes
in three shipyards in the Shandong
and Jiangsu province in China

DE

OUR
BUSINESS

SHIPB

SHIPBUILDING

ECT M&C
PROJ
NG
I
ILD

IG

3URYLGLQJPDUNHWLQJDQG
consultancy services to shipyards
such as promoting their corporate
profile in overseas markets, seeking
out shipowners and securing
shipbuilding contracts

SH
IP
B

3URYLGLQJGHVLJQDQGHQJLQHHULQJVHUYLFHV
through Deltamarin and other leading
design institutes in China

:LWKDVWURQJWUDFNUHFRUGRIPRUHWKDQ\HDUV
Deltamarin provides one-stop expert
services throughout the entire life cycle
of a marine and offshore structure

Expand global
reach and build
overseas network

Strengthen shipbuilding
capabilities
Develop more
sophisticated and
higher value-added vessels
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Chairman’s Message

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
Despite the uncertainties that continue to cloud the
global shipping industry, 2013 was a distinctive year for
AVIC Maritime as it marked the Group’s foray into ship
design following the completion of the acquisition of
Deltamarin in January 2013.
Established in 1990 in Finland by a group of naval
architects and engineers with three decades of
experience in developing profitable, sustainable
and cost-efficient vessels, Deltamarin specialises in
providing design, engineering and contracting
services to shipping, shipbuilding, naval, marine and
offshore oil and gas industries worldwide.

Dr Diao Weicheng

Executive Chairman

This strategic acquisition not only complements the
Group’s strengths in shipbuilding project management
and consultancy, it also allows us to gain a foothold
in the ship design arena as well as strengthens our
integrated capabilities along the entire marine
business value chain. The acquisition has also
diversified the Group’s geographical source of revenue
from Asia and the Middle East to include Europe,
Australia and the America, strengthening our position
as an integrated one-stop maritime solutions provider
to international customers.

Financial Review

For financial year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”),
the Group achieved a stellar 330.7% year-on-year
(“y-o-y”) jump in revenue to RMB601.3 million, boosted
by the growth in all business segments including the
maiden contribution from Deltamarin. The ship design
segment was the biggest revenue contributor,
attributing approximately 48.0% of the Group’s total
revenue at RMB288.3 million.
As at 31 December 2013, Deltamarin’s B.Delta bulk
carrier series continued to be well received, reaching
orders of close to 100 vessels. With growing demand for
energy-efficient vessels around the world, we are
confident that Deltamarin will continue to deliver more
high value-added service offerings to our customers.

The Group has been building our capabilities amidst
the downturn so as to seize opportunities when the
industry emerges again. Seeing the heightened
interest in environmentally-friendly and fuel-efficient
vessels, the Group is optimistic about the demand
prospects for such vessels and its related services.

For the year in review, another major contributor to the
Group’s revenue was the shipbuilding segment which
accounted for 39.1% of total revenue and registered a
132.4% y-o-y growth to RMB235.2 million. This notable
achievement was mainly due to the construction of five
vessels, comprising three ASD tugboats, a diver boat
and a bunkering tanker.
Geographically, our revenue from service fee and
management service fee in FY2013 were derived
from Asia, while shipbuilding revenue was derived
mainly from the Middle East, and ship design revenue
originated from Asia and Europe, with contributions
from America, Africa and Australia.

Business Outlook and Prospects

There was a recent report published by the
anti-corruption watch dog, Transparency International,
admonishing Chinese companies for their opaque
business practices. The Group would like to assure

shareholders and investors that good corporate
governance has always been our priority and we
never fail to comply with strict ethics and accountability
codes as a public listed company. With such policies in
place, it amplifies our corporate reputation in the shipbuilding industry.
According to recent reports1, the shipping industry is
poised to emerge from its longest downturn in three
decades, buoyed by an end to years of overcapacity
that have depressed freight rates since the end of a
shipping boom in 2008. Prices of new and second-hand
ships started to rise last year on expectations of a
recovery, however experts warn that any recovery
may fade after 2016 when overcapacity could again
dampen freight rates.
The Group has been building our capabilities amidst
the downturn so as to seize opportunities when the
industry emerges again. Seeing the heightened
interest in environmentally-friendly and fuel-efficient
vessels, the Group is optimistic about the demand
prospects for such vessels and its related services. We
are confident that Deltamarin will continue to put us
in good stead with its proven innovations in the
sustainability arena.
On this positive note, AVIC Maritime continues to forge
ahead with our growth strategies to facilitate expansion
along the shipbuilding chain by focusing on quality,
efficiency and durability. The Group’s proposed
consolidation of our ship trading related businesses
is also in progress. Following the findings and
recommendations by professionals engaged by the
Group, we are in the process of consulting relevant
authorities on our restructuring plans.
As a member of the AVIC Group, a Fortune Global
500 company and one of the largest industrial
groups owned by the PRC Central Government, AVIC
Maritime continues to enjoy strong support from the
AVIC Group and the domestic financial institutions in
the PRC.

In Appreciation

In closing, I would like to take this opportunity to thank
the Board members who have stepped down and
welcome the new members who have joined the
Board in the past year. It also gives me great pleasure
to congratulate Mr Sun Yan who has been newly appointed
as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer.
On behalf of the Board, I would also like to express my
deepest appreciation to the management team and
employees for their dedication and commitment to
the Group. To our business partners and customers,
thank you for your unwavering support and I look
forward to a closer collaboration and partnership with
you. To our valued shareholders, we are thankful for
your unrelenting support and confidence in us.

Dr Diao Weicheng

Executive Chairman
1

Reuters – “Shipping industry sees an end to five-year downturn”, 7 February 2014 https://www.bimco.org/Reports/Market_Analysis/2014/0108_Reflections.aspx
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Reuters – “Shipping industry sees an end to five-year downturn”, 7 February 2014 https://www.bimco.org/Reports/Market_Analysis/2014/0108_Reflections.aspx
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Growing
Momentum
7KHSDVW\HDUKDVEHHQERWKIXOÀOOLQJDQGIUXLWIXO
We continue to make waves and commendable
progress towards greater success. Our proven track
record combined with clear growth strategies will
put us in good stead as we continue to seize newer
and bigger opportunities.
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Corporate Structure

Key Highlights in FY2013

TOTAL EQUITY

100%
AVIC International
Ship Engineering
Pte. Ltd.

79.57%
AVIC International
Marine Engineering
Pte. Ltd.

100%
AVIC Ship
Investment
Limited

100%
AVIC International
Ship Development
Pte. Ltd.

100%
Kaixin Industrial
Pte. Ltd.

100%
AVIC International
Ship Development
(China) Co., Ltd.

100%
AVIC Kaixin (Beijing)
Ship Industry
Co., Ltd.

242.5
RMB million

100%
AVIC
International
Offshore Pte. Ltd.

100%
AVIC Ship (Xiamen)
Co., Ltd.

100%
AVIC International
Ship Development
(Guangzhou)
Co., Ltd.

NET
ASSET VALUE
PER SHARE

NET
PROFIT

65.8

100%
AVIC International
Marine Engineering
(Lux). S.à.r.l.

6.0

RMB cents

RMB million

100%
Deltamarin Ltd.

100%
Delta-Eesti Oü

50%
V. Delta Limited

100%
Deltamarin Brasil
Consultoria e
projetos Ltda

0.01%
Elomatic Oy

100%
Kiinteistö Oy
Pilottitie

9.8%
Offshore
Technology
Center Oy

100%
Deltamarin (China)
Co., Ltd.

50%
Shandong
Deltamarin Marine
Engineering Co., Ltd.

100%
Deltamarin
Sp. z o.o.

CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

403.2
RMB million

50%
Brodoplan d.o.o.

REVENUE

601.3
RMB million

50%
49%
GPS Deltamarin
(M) SDN. BHD.

Delta-AVIC
Pte. Ltd.
50%
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FY2012

601.3

139.6

21.2

13.2

For the year (RMB’million)
Revenue
Profit Before Income Tax

6.0

7.8

Current Assets

574.3

583.9

Non-Current Assets

226.3

3.6

Total Assets

800.6

587.4

Current Liabilities

221.5

89.6

Non-Current Liabilities

336.5

336.7

Total Liabilities

558.1

426.3

Total Equity

242.5

161.1

Cash and Cash Equivalents

403.2

355.3

0.74

2.73

65.84

56.42

Profit for the period

48.0%

Current Ratio (times)
Return on Shareholders’ Equity (%)
3

2.6

6.5

2.5

4.8

Service fee income
Management service fee
Other income

0.7

1.3

FY2012

Service fee income

32.1

27.1

Management service fee

26.0

11.3

Shipbuilding revenue

235.2

101.2

Ship design fee income

288.3

-

19.6

-

601.3

139.6

Other income

Total

FY2012

72.5%

Asia
Europe
America

Middle East
Australia

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Group
FY2013
(RMB’000)

FY2012
(RMB’000)

Change
(%)

601,306

139,598

330.7

(403,027)

(92,465)

335.9

198,279

47,133

320.7

4,264

2,948

44.6

(27,061)

(11,872)

127.9

Administrative expenses

(112,819)

(21,919)

414.7

Finance cost

(13,304)

(3,048)

336.5

Other operating expenses

(25,975)

-

n.m.

Share of results of associates

(2,173)

-

n.m.

Profit before income tax

21,211

13,242

60.2

(15,258)

(5,445)

180.2

5,953

7,797

(23.7)

Other operating income
The increase in other operating income in FY2013 was
mainly due to the increase in interest income.
Marketing and distribution expenses

Notes:
1

2

4

Based on 285,576,000 weighted average
number of ordinary shares
Defined as current assets/current liabilities
Defined as profit for the period/Total Equity
Defined as profit for the period/total assets

In FY2013, the Group also expanded its geographical revenue source to include Europe, Australia and
America, compared to only Asia and the Middle East a year ago. For the year under review, service fee
income and management service fee were derived from Asia, while shipbuilding revenue was from the Middle
East. Ship design fee income was mainly derived from Europe and Asia, with contribution from North America,
South America, Africa and Australia.

FY2013

41.3%

FY2013

The increase in cost of sales in FY2013 was mainly due
to the construction work for the five vessels and the
contract cost incurred by Deltamarin to generate the
ship design fee income. No ship design contract cost
was recognised in FY2012 as the acquisition of Deltamarin
was newly completed in January 2013.

Revenue
The Group’s revenue for financial year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”) surged 330.7% to RMB601.3 million
compared to RMB139.6 million a year ago. The growth was bolstered by higher shipbuilding revenue for the
construction of five vessels comprising three ASD tugboats, one diver boat and one bunkering tanker, as well as
ship design fee income from the newly acquired Deltamarin.

Revenue by type of services
(RMB’ million)

8.1%

Shipbuilding revenue
Ship design fee income

Cost of sales

3

Return on Assets4 (%)

FY2012

27.5%

39.1%

Key Ratios
2

72.5%

14.9%

39.1%

Per Share Information (RMB cents)

Net Asset Value Per Share1

19.4%

FY2013

At year end (RMB’million)

Basic Earnings Per Share1

Revenue Breakdown by
Geographical Segment
1. 2 %
3. 5%

FY2013

Revenue Breakdown by
Business Segment
3.3%
5.3%
4.3
%

Financial Summary

Marketing and distribution expenses increased 127.9% to
RMB27.1 million mainly due to expenses from Deltamarin.
Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses increased to RMB112.8 million
due to the increase in employee benefits, depreciation
and amortisation expenses, operating lease expenses
and general office expenses as a result of increased
business activities, as well as cost incurred in relation to
acquisition of Deltamarin which cannot be capitalised.
Other operating expenses
The significant increase in other operating expenses
was mainly attributable to the appreciation of the EUR
against SGD, and RMB against USD, which resulted in a
foreign exchange loss of RMB24.6 million.
Finance costs
Finance costs increased to RMB13.3 million in FY2013 due
to interest expenses incurred on (1) the shareholder’s
loan of USD24.0 million, (2) a loan of EUR26.0 million, and
(3) withholding tax expenses incurred in relation to the
repayment of Euro loan interest.
Share of results of associates
The share of loss from associates in FY2013 arose from
the share of losses incurred by associates of the newly
acquired Deltamarin.
Income tax expense
The operating subsidiaries in China and Finland are
subject to an income tax rate of 25.0% and 24.5%
respectively. The increase in income tax expense in FY2013
as compared to FY2012 was in line with the higher profit
generated by the subsidiaries in China and Deltamarin.

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other operating income
Marketing and distribution
expenses

Income tax expense
Profit for the year

n.m. denotes not meaningful
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Current assets

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents registered
a 13.5% increase to RMB403.2 million mainly due to
the receipt of a shareholder’s loan amounting to
USD3.25 million (RMB20.7 million).
Trade receivables increased to RMB109.1 million compared
to RMB1.0 million a year ago due to RMB79.4 million
receivables from Deltamarin and the amount due
from the construction contract. The increase in other
receivables was due to the prepayment of Deltamarin’s
business expenses as at 31 December 2013.
Non-current assets
The increase in plant and equipment of RMB4.0 million
was largely attributable to the inclusion of the newly
acqui red Deltamar in. The G roup’s goodwill and
intangible assets amounting to RMB120.9 million and
RMB96.2 million respectively were recognised from the
acquisition of Deltamarin based on the purchase price
allocation exercise.
Current liabilities
The decrease in trade payables was mainly due to
payments made to suppliers and to a customer on the
construction contract. The Group’s advance received
represents amounts received on behalf of shipyards for
the purpose of acquiring tools and equipment and the
increase registered in FY2013 was due to lesser amount
being paid to the suppliers of tools and equipment
during the year.
The increase in current portion of long term loan was
mainly due to AVIC International Kairong Limited
granting an additional USD3,250,000 interest free loan
to AVIC International Ship Development Pte Ltd, a
wholly-own subsidiary of the Company with the loan
tenure of three years commencing from 20 March 2013.
The increase in other payables and accruals to
RMB77.4 million was attributable to the advances
from the immediate holding company and accrued
operating and office expenses from Deltamarin. The
increase in income tax payable represents 25% and
24.5% of tax provision for profit generated by our
subsidiaries in China and Finland respectively.
Non-current liabilities
Non-current liabilities comprised the long-term portion
of a bank loan amounting to EUR18.2 million and two
shareholder’s loan amounting to SGD29.8 million and
USD3.3 million.
Deferred tax liabilities represent the tax liabilities for
the timing differences arising from the recognition of
the intangible assets, ship design fee income and fair
valuation of Deltamarin’s assets.
Capital reserve
The amount of capital reserve as at 31 December 2013
comprised a deemed contribution from the immediate
holding company as a result of initial recognition of
shareholder’s loan at fair value.

Net cash from operating activities

Group
31 December
2013
(RMB’000)

31 December
2012
(RMB’000)

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

403,234

355,262

Cash held in trust by a third party

-

216,618

Pledged cash placed with banks

49,540

8,036

Trade receivables

109,087

1,044

Other receivables

12,399

2,909

Plant and equipment

7,594

3,551

Investment in associates

1,060

-

55

-

96,164

-

120,891

-

557

-

800,581

587,420

Current portion of long-term loan

66,990

21,641

Trade payables

30,243

30,187

Advance received

39,103

23,291

Other payables and accruals

77,351

14,513

Finance lease liabilities

1,018

-

Income tax payable

6,836

-

838

-

309,552

336,668

26,127

-

558,058

426,300

101,237

101,237

Capital reserve

12,470

10,257

Statutory reserve

10,209

8,094

Translation reserve

21,231

(1,331)

Non Controling Interest

54,508

-

Accumulated profits/(losses)

42,868

42,863

242,523

161,120

Non-current assets

Available for sale investments
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Deferred tax assets
Total assets

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

The RMB37.2 million generated from operating activities
in FY2013 was attributable to higher profit before tax and
increased payables and accruals, partially offsetting
increased income tax paid.

Group
FY2013
(RMB’000)

FY2012
(RMB’000)

Net cash from investing activities
Net cash from investing activities in FY2013 was mainly
due to the cash inflow from the acquisition of
Deltamarin and partly offset by the purchase of plant
and equipment.
Net cash from financing activities
In FY2013, the RMB26.4 million used in financing activities
was mainly due to partial repayment of a EUR loan and
increase in pledged bank deposit. This was partially
offset by proceeds from the shareholder’s loan.

Net cash from operating activities

37,214

66,813

Net cash from/(used in) investing
activities

39,558

(216,974)

(26,362)

360,040

Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents

50,410

209,879

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the financial period

403,234

355,262

Net cash (used in)/from financing
activities

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Finance lease liabilities
Long-term loan
Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital

Total equity
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SOARING WITH

FIGHTING
SPIRITS
Driven by innovation and spirit of enterprise, we
believe success will continue to be in our future.
:H·UHFRQÀGHQWWKDWRXUKLJKO\H[SHULHQFHGWHDP
led by strong leadership will blaze trails as we
grow. And in moving forward, we remain steadfast
in our commitment to maintain our position as a
key player and leader in the industry.
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Board of Directors
DR DIAO WEICHENG Executive Chairman

MR LI MEIJIN Executive Director

Dr Diao Weicheng (ۤʂ䝭) is our Executive Chairman. He was appointed to our Board on 11
November 2010 and was re-designated from Non-Executive Chairman to Executive Chairman
on 2 April 2012. He was appointed as Interim Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company
on 20 June 2012. He relinquished the position with effect from 17 January 2014 when a new
CEO was appointed.

Mr Li Meijin (⦢僖気) is our Executive Director in charge of the Group’s administrative and
operational matters, and was appointed to our Board on 31 March 2014.

Since 1 March 2012, Dr Diao was appointed as the vice president of AVIC International
Holding Corporation (Ĺ啙䠦∦⥻瘤⏘勪⤽瘳؈৭) (“AVIC International”), where he takes
the lead responsibility in the ship-trading and ship-building business, and the engineering,
procurement and construction business within AVIC International’s group of companies (“AVIC
International Group”). He was also appointed as the non-executive Chairman of the boards
of the following companies within AVIC International Group – AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd.
(“AVIC International Beijing”), AVIC International Guangzhou Co., Ltd., AVIC International
Xiamen Co., Ltd. and AVIC International Shanghai Co., Ltd..
He has been the president of AVIC International Beijing since March 2008, and is responsible for the overall management of AVIC
International Beijing’s business. Prior to joining AVIC International Beijing, he was the vice president of AVIC International from
August 2004 to February 2008 and was in charge of strategic planning, ship-trading and shipbuilding business.
From 2002 to 2004, Dr Diao was the vice president-cum-director of Shenzhen Pengji Group Limited (㏌苿盶๏⤽瘳؈৭), a company
involved in property development and management and other industrial investment activities, where he was in charge of
the overall management of the company’s industrial investment and certain property business. From 1995 to 2002, he was the
vice president of Shenzhen Investment Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and involved in property
development and investment, and was in charge of the overall investment management of the company’s business. From 1990
to 1995, Dr Diao was the director of the administration department of AVIC International Shenzhen Company Limited (Ĺ啙瘤㏌
؈৭). Prior to joining the AVIC Group, Dr Diao was a lecturer in business management and economics related courses in Beijing
Administrative College (ࢋǤ弱♹ᘕ癏) from 1987 to 1990.
Dr Diao is a certified senior engineer accredited by the Shenzhen city government. He graduated from Zhongshan University
(Ĺᆼᘕ) with a Bachelor of Science in 1985, and obtained a Masters in Business Administration and PhD in Management
Science and Engineering from Tongji University (㋙ᆼᘕ) in 1996 and 2002 respectively. From 2005 to 2006, Dr Diao was
engaged in postdoctoral research on strategic studies in politics in Peking University (ࢋǤᆼᘕ).

MR SUN YAN Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr Sun Yan (ᘄ 㨆) is our CEO and Executive Director. He was appointed to our Board as
Non-Executive Director on 28 May 2013. He was re-designated as an Executive Director and
appointed as the CEO of the Company with effect from 17 January 2014. Since November
2012, Mr Sun has been appointed as the General Manager of AVIC International Ship
Development (China) Ltd, a subsidiary of our Company.
Mr Sun was appointed as the President of China National Aero-Technology Corporation
Shanghai Limited Liability Company in November 2011. From April 2010 to November 2011,
Mr Sun was the Executive Vice President for China National Aero-Technology Corporation
Shanghai Limited Liability Company.
Prior to the role, he was the Vice President of CATIC Beijing Co., Ltd (“CATIC Beijing”) from
January 2000 to April 2010. From 1997 to 2000, Mr Sun was an Assistant to the President
of CATIC Beijing. From 1996 to 1997, he worked as a Manager of the Import Department in
CATIC Beijing. From 1993 to 1996, Mr Sun served as a Manager in the Enterprises Department in CATIC Beijing.
Mr Sun began his career in China National Aero-Technology Import & Export Corporation (“CATIC”) as an Assistant Manager in
1985, and subsequently took on the role as Project Manager in CATIC’s Western Europe Trade Centre from 1987 to 1990. He was
a Manager in the Civilian Goods Department in CATIC from 1990 to 1993. Presently, Mr Sun sits on the board of companies such
as China National Aero-Technology Corporation Shanghai Limited Liability Company, AVIC International Ship Development
(China) Ltd, Hong Kong AVIC International Shanghai Company Limited and AVIC Dingheng Shipbuilding Co., Ltd..
Presently, Mr Sun sits on the board of companies such as China National Aero-Technology Corporation Shanghai Limited Liability
Company, AVIC International Ship Development (China) Ltd, Hong Kong AVIC International Shanghai Company Limited and
AVIC Dingheng Shipbuilding Co., Ltd..
Mr Sun graduated from Beihang University with a Bachelor Degree in 1985. In 2008, he took up shipping-related courses in
Galbraith, one of the world’s longest established and respected shipbroking houses in the world. He also participated in
managerial courses in Zhonghang University in 2009, 2011 and 2012. In 2000, Mr Sun was accredited as a Senior Engineer by the
Aviation Industry Corporation of China.

Mr Li was appointed as Vice President at AVIC International Xiamen Company Limited from
May 2004 to now. Since September 2008, Mr Li has been a member of the Party Committee
and Chairman of the Trade Union at AVIC International Xiamen Company Limited. From
August 2002 to August 2008, he was a member of the Committee of Disciplinary Inspection
at AVIC International Xiamen Company Limited. Prior to this, Mr Li was an Assistant to the
President at CATIC Xiamen Company, where he was involved in business planning, human
resource and investment matters from August 2002 to May 2004.
Mr Li was a Deputy Manager at the Enterprise Department of CATIC Xiamen Company from
1998 to 2002, where he was involved in the management of the subsidiaries and invested
companies of the company. From December 2001 to February 2002, he was appointed
as secretary of the President at the Enterprise Department of CATIC Xiamen Company.
Mr Li was also the Assistant Manager and secretary of the President at the Administrative Department of CATIC Xiamen Company
from March 2002 to July 2002, where he was involved in the general management of administration and human resource.
Mr Li began his career in Xiamen South-East Aluminium Co., Ltd. (८疼Ĥं瑨Ģ⤽瘳؈৭) (“Xiamen Aluminium”) where he was a
technician and workshop director from 1985 to 1992. From January 1993 to May 1993, he was a production manager at Xiamen
Zhongyuan Co. Ltd. (८疼Ĺ㒼⤽瘳؈৭). In June 1993, Mr Li returned to Xiamen Aluminium as a workshop director, and subsequently
took on the role as Deputy General Manager in May 1997 and General Manager from August 1997 to 2001.
Mr Li graduated from North Western Polytechnical University (憑ࢋᫀĢᆼᘕ) with a Bachelor in 1985, and is currently pursuing
an Executive Master of Business Administration at Xiamen University. In 2000, he was accredited as a senior engineer by CATIC
(Ĺ啙∦Ẩ؈৭).

MR HUANG GUANG Non-Executive Director
Mr Huang Guang (菃 )was appointed as a Non-Executive Director to our Board on 28 May 2013.
Mr Huang was appointed as a General Manager and Deputy Secretary of the Party
Committee at AVIC International Xiamen Company Limited from 2001 to now. From 2008
to 2010, he was also the General Manager and Secretary of the Party Committee of AVIC
International Xiamen Company Limited.
Since 20 March 2012, Mr Huang was appointed as the senior vice president of AVIC
International Holding Corporation (Ĺ啙䠦∦⥻瘤⏘勪⤽瘳؈৭). He currently sits on the
boards of AVIC International Offshore Pte Ltd and AVIC International Xiamen Company
Limited.
Mr Huang graduated from Xiamen University with a Bachelor of Arts in 1984, and a Master of
Business Administration in 1996. He obtained an Executive Master of Business Administration
from Xiamen University in 2005.

MR LIU AIYI Non-Executive Director
Mr Liu Aiyi (܃㪗ŝ) is our Non-Executive Director. He was appointed to our Board on 31 March
2014.
Mr Liu has been appointed as the General Manager of the Human Resource Department of
AVIC International Holding Corporation (Ĺ啙䠦ᫀĢ盶๏؈৭) since July 2010. Prior to such
appointment, Mr Liu had worked at Aviation Industry Corporation of China (Ĺ啙䠦ᫀĢ盶๏
؈৭) since January 2001. He was first employed as the Vice Secretary of the Youth League
Committee, and subsequently, the Secretary. In May 2003, he was transferred to the Human
Resource Department, where he assumed the role of a Senior Business Manager. In December
2006, he was promoted to be the Director of Leader Cadre and from October 2008 to July
2010, he was appointed as the Director of Talent and Executives of the Human Resource
Department.
Mr Liu was formerly a Publicity Officer at AVIC Beijing Institute of Measurement Testing Technology
(Ĺ啙䠦ᫀĢࢋǤ旑濞㋖昅∦⥻䐧䠟⇁), where he worked from August 1997 to January 2001.
Mr Liu is a certified Senior Political Officer accredited by the Aviation Industry Corporation of China. He graduated from Peking
University (ࢋǤᆼᘕ) with Bachelor of Arts in Chinese Language and Literature in 1997 and has obtained a Master Degree in Public
Policy in the same university in 2008.
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Board of Directors
MR HUANG YONGFENG Non-Executive Director

MR TENG CHEONG KWEE Lead Independent Director

Mr Huang Yongfeng (菃ࠏᣝ) is our Non-Executive Director. He was appointed to our Board
on 31 March 2014.

Mr Teng Cheong Kwee is currently a non-executive director of Pheim Asset Management
(Asia) Pte Ltd. He was appointed as the Lead Independent Director to our Board on 18 April
2011. Mr Teng also sits as the chair of our Nominating Committee.

Mr Huang is currently the Chairman of the Board of Castic-SMP Machinery Corporation
Limited (㏌Ĺ✼⦉⮔旮ᆌ⤽瘳؈৭), a position he held since December 2012. He was also
appointed as the Company Secretary to AVIC International Holdings Limited (Ĺ啙瘤⏘勪
勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭) from July 2012. Mr Huang also sits as a director on the boards of Fitya Holdings
Ltd. (穤Ǆ毘븹盶๏븺勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭), AVIC Real Estate Co., Ltd (Ĺ啙ໄǝ勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭), Rainbow
Department Store Co., Ltd (ᆿ屏໐勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭) and Tianma Micro-electronics Co., Ltd
(ᆿ紁ᷝ㽱ᗸ勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭).
From July 1998 to February 2004, Mr Huang worked in AVIC International Shenzhen
Company Limited (Ĺ啙䠦∦⥻㏌⤽瘳؈৭) as first a Senior Project Manager in the
Investment Management Department, and from February 2004 as the Deputy Manager
in the same department. From August 2004 to December 2007, Mr Huang was the
Secretary of the Board of CATIC Shenzhen Holdings Ltd. (㏌Ĺ啙ᙿĢ勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭). From December 2007 to November 2011,
Mr Huang worked at AVIC International Shenzhen Company Limited, as a Manager of the Corporate Strategy and Management
Department, then as the Assistant to the General Manager before being appointed as the Deputy General Manager of AVIC
International Shenzhen Company Limited in November 2011.
Mr Huang is a certified senior engineer accredited by the Aviation Industry Corporation of China. He graduated from University
of Science and Technology of China (Ĺ䜙ᘕ∦⥻ᆼᘕ) with a Bachelor of Science in Management in 1995 and a Master of
Engineering Management from Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics (ࢋǤ啙䠦啙ᆿᆼᘕ) in 1998. He obtained an
Executive Masters in Business Administration from China Europe International Business School in 2011.

MR WANG MINGCHUAN Non-Executive Director
Mr Wang Mingchuan (㆘ਅ᪲) is our Non-Executive Director. He was appointed to our Board
on 31 March 2014.
Mr Wang is currently the Head of Finance Department and the Vice Chief Accountant of
AVIC International Holding Corporation (Ĺ啙䠦∦⥻瘤⏘勪⤽瘳؈৭), and also the Chief
Accountant of CATIC Shenzhen Company Limited (Ĺ啙䠦∦⥻㏌⤽瘳؈৭), positions
he held since November 2010, and September 2010 respectively. He currently sits on the
boards of Fitya Holdings Ltd. (穤Ǆ毘븹盶๏븺勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭), AVIC Real Estate Co., Ltd (Ĺ啙
ໄǝ勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭), Rainbow Department Store Co., Ltd (ᆿ屏໐勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭) and Tianma
Micro-electronics Co., Ltd (ᆿ紁ᷝ㽱ᗸ勪ɕ⤽瘳؈৭) as a director.
From February 1989 to January 1992, Mr Wang worked in Shenzhen Shenrong Engineering
Plastic Company as the Finance Manager and he has worked in CATIC Shenzhen Company
Limited from 1992 till now, and assumed several other positions such as Deputy Manager,
Manager, Vice Chief Accountant and Chief Accountant of the Finance Department over
the past two decades.
Mr Wang is a certified accountant accredited by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China and a certified
Senior Accountant accredited by Aviation Industry Corporation of China. He graduated from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics (憑ं柮保ᆼᘕ) with a Bachelor of Accounting in 1986, and obtained a Master of Science in
Engineering from Tongji University (㋙ᆼᘕ) in 1996. He further obtained an Executive Master in Business Administration from
China Europe International Business School in 2009.

Mr Teng is also serving as an independent director of several listed companies. He was
the head of the risk management & regulatory division of the Singapore Exchange Ltd.
from 1999 to 2000. Prior to this, he was executive vice president at the Stock Exchange of
Singapore, responsible for the listings, inspectorate and investigation departments from 1989
to 1999. From 1982 to 1989, Mr Teng was in the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”),
where he was initially appointed secretary of the Securities Industry Council. He was
later appointed as assistant director in the banking and financial institutions department of
MAS from 1985 to 1988, before being appointed as deputy director of the same department
in 1988. Mr Teng was in the Singapore Administrative Service from 1977 to 1981, and was
seconded to the Securities Industry Council as assistant secretary in 1979.
Mr Teng graduated from University of Newcastle, New South Wales, Australia in 1977 with a Bachelor of Commerce and a First
Class Honours in Bachelor of Engineering (Industrial).

MR CHONG TECK SIN Independent Director
Mr Chong Teck Sin was appointed as an Independent Director to our Board on 18 April 2011.
Mr Chong also sits as the chair of our Audit Committee.
Between April 2004 and March 2010, he was a board member of the Accounting and
Corporate Regulatory Authority. Between October 2008 and July 2010, he was also a board
member of The National Kidney Foundation of Singapore. Prior to this, he was the group
managing director (Commercial) of SGX-listed Seksun Corporation Ltd between 1999 and
2004. He joined Glaxo Wellcome Asia Pacific Pte Ltd as its strategic development director
for the PRC from 1997 to 1999. From 1994 to 1997, he was the general manager (Marketing
/Commercial) and subsequently senior general manager (Marketing, Singapore
operations and Singapore branch) of China-Singapore Suzhou Industrial Park Development
Co., Ltd, the developer of the Suzhou Industrial Park. Before that, he was with Standard
Chartered Bank from 1989 to 1994, the Economic Development Board from 1986 to 1989 and
international ship classification society Nippon Kaiji Kyokai from 1981 to 1986.
Mr Chong graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering (Naval Architecture) from the University of Tokyo in 1981 and a Masters of
Business Administration (MBA) from the National University of Singapore in 1987.

MR WANG PUQU Independent Director

Mr Wang Puqu (㲭㋷ߩ) was appointed to our Board as an Independent Director on 28 May
2013.
Mr Wang lectured at Peking University since 1988 and rose through its ranks to become one
of its academic Professors in 1995.
His research expertise includes the theory and methods of politics as well as government
economics. Some of his published research include “The Foundation of Politics”, “Research
for Government Procurement of Public Services from Social Organisations”, and “Through
Democratic Governance to Achieve Social and Livelihood”.
Mr Wang obtained a PhD in Law from Peking University in 1988. He also holds a Bachelor and
a Masters Degree in Law from Peking University.

AVIC INTERNATIONAL MARITIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

23

Board of Directors
MS ALICE LAI KUEN KAN Independent Director
Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan was appointed to our Board as an Independent Director on 18 April
2011. Ms Kan also sits as the chair of our Remuneration Committee.
Ms Kan is a controlling shareholder, a responsible officer and the managing director
of a corporate advisory company, Asia Investment Management Limited and a research
company, Asia Investment Research Limited respectively, both of which are licensed
corporations by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. She is also serving as an
independent director of several listed companies in Hong Kong.
Ms Kan has been a responsible officer for Lotus Asset Management Limited, which is
principally involved in investment management, for research support since 2005. From 1997
to 2002, Ms Kan was the managing director of Asia Financial Capital Limited, where she
was involved in corporate finance related advisory and investment management business
in Hong Kong and the PRC. From 1995 to 1997, she was an executive director at Creditanstalt
Capital Limited and assistant general manager at Creditanstalt-Bankverein, Hong Kong
branch. Both of these companies were involved in merchant banking and corporate finance activities. Ms Kan was an executive
director at ING Capital Markets (Hong Kong) Limited, principally involved in merchant banking and corporate finance activities,
from 1992 to 1995.
She was an associate director at Sun Hung Kai International Limited, a company involved in corporate finance activities, from
1986 to 1992. Prior to this, she was the group accountant of a trading and investment holding company, G.S.Yuill & Company
Pty. Ltd., from 1984 to 1986, in charge of the overall accounting and financial control and management of the company.
Between 1981 and 1984, Ms Kan was the financial controller of Sun Hey Investment Company Limited, which was an investment
holding company. She was the financial controller of Hip Yick Company Limited, a company which was involved in the
manufacturing of garments, from 1980 to 1981 and the financial controller of the Gulfeast Group, which was principally
involved in the shipping business, between 1979 and 1980. From 1977 to 1979, Ms Kan was the financial controller of a
trading company, Mauri Brother and Thompsons Company Limited. Ms Kan was an assistant assessor at the Inland Revenue
Department, Hong Kong Government from 1975 to 1977.
Ms Kan is a fellow member of the Association of Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants, and an associate member of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. She is also a
licensed responsible officer under the Securities and Futures Ordinance with the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong.

Key Management
MR LIAO HONGBING Chief Financial Officer
Mr Liao Hongbing (᱙䱓 )ؖis our Chief Financial Officer and is responsible for overseeing the finance and accounting functions
of the Group. He was appointed to the Company on 31 March 2014.
Mr Liao was appointed the Chief Accountant of AVIC International Ship Development (China) Co., Ltd (Ĺ啙瘤啵啯ូ븹Ĺ븺
⤽瘳؈৭) since December 2013; he has also been appointed as the Vice President and Chief Accountant of AVIC International
Shanghai Co., Ltd (Ĺ啙瘤Č㌑؈৭) since April 2012.
Mr Liao has extensive background and experience in finance and accounting-related matters. Mr Liao was the Interim
General Manager of Beijing Kaitong Hengda Investment Management Co. Ltd (ࢋǤۈ沕ễ毘≃栐䨓㵕⤽瘳؈৭) from March
2011 to April 2012. From July 2011 to April 2012, Mr Liao was the Manager of the Enterprise Management Department of AVIC
International Beijing Co., Ltd. (Ĺ啙瘤ࢋǤ؈৭). He was also concurrently appointed as the Assistant to General Manager in
AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd from April 2009 to April 2012. Mr Liao was also the Chief Financial Officer of Taizhou CATIC
Shipbuilding Heavy Industry Limited (㉛᪳Ĺ啙啵啯濜ᫀ⤽瘳؈৭) from January 2008 to March 2011.
Mr Liao had started his career as an accountant at China National Aeroborne Equipment Corp.븹Ĺ啙䠦⦉歰旮ᆌẨ؈৭) from
July 1989 and later joined AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd. (Ĺ啙瘤ࢋǤ؈৭) in March 1996 as an accountant. He joined TFT
Tools Inc. as a Manager of the Finance Department in May 1997, where he was later promoted to be Vice President. He left TFT
Tools Inc. in December 2003 when he was appointed as the Deputy Manager of the Finance Department in AVIC International
Beijing Co., Ltd. from December 2003, until his promotion to Manager in January 2006.
Mr Liao is a certified Senior Accountant accredited by the Aviation Industry Corporation of China (Ĺ啙ᫀĢ). He graduated
with a Professional Qualification in Accountancy from Zhengzhou Institute of Aeronautical Industry Management in 1989
and obtained an Executive Master in Business Administrative (EMBA) from Beihang University (formerly known as Beijing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics), People’s Republic of China, in 2013.

MS ZHANG YIQIONG Vice President
Ms Zhang Yiqiong (ᳩ䈭㶮) is our Vice President. She was appointed in her role as Vice President on 3 September 2013. Ms Zhang
joined our Company in February 2011 to assist with the accounts and the other finance-related matters.
She is responsible for assisting the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, handling the management of the financial matters of
the Company and the allocation of work of the finance department.
Ms Zhang has valuable experience in finance and accounting-related operations. Ms Zhang was also appointed as the Chief
Accountant of AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd. (“AVIC International Beijing”) in November 2013. She first joined the Finance
Department of AVIC International Beijing in September 1992 as an accountant. Ms Zhang was later promoted to Senior Business
Manager, Assistant Manager, Manager of the Finance Department and Deputy Chief Accountant before reaching her
current appointment as Chief Accountant .
Prior to joining AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd, Ms Zhang worked for 608 Institute of Ministry of Aviation as a cashier from July
1984 to October 1990, and the National Aero-Technology Import and Export Corporation (“CATIC”) as an accountant from
October 1990 to September 1992.
Ms Zhang obtained a Professional Qualification in Accountancy from Zhengzhou Institute of Aeronautical Industry Management,
China, in June 2002 and graduated with an Executive Master in Business Administrative (EMBA) from Beihang University (formerly
known as Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics), People’s Republic of China, in June 2013.
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Corporate and
Social Responsibility
29th Voluntary Tree Planting Day
On 6 April 2013, Dr Diao Weicheng, Executive Chairman of AVIC Maritime, led a group of about 50 people
comprising staff of AVIC Kaixin (Beijing) Ship Industry Co., Ltd. and their families, to the Yang Song Village in the
Huairou District of Beijing, to participate in the district’s 29th voluntary tree planting day. Through everyone’s
collective efforts, a total of 300 trees were planted that same day.

Race Against Cancer 2013
On 21 July 2013, the staff of AVIC Maritime participated
in the “Race Against Cancer”, an event organised by
the Singapore Cancer Society, sponsored by SingTel.
It was not only a bonding session for the staff at AVIC
Maritime but also showed the Group’s effort in being
socially committed to charitable initiatives.

Deltamarin’s Commitment To The Environment
Deltamarin is strongly committed to improving the environment, and believes that the best designs honour people
and planet.
Selfless And Civic-Minded Public Display
Staff of AVIC Maritime, Mr Peng Yi (top picture)
and Mr Wang Ligui (bottom picture) helped
to detain a man suspected of pick pocketing
$2,500 worth of cash from a woman at a
crowded Raffles Place MRT station on 31 July
2013. He was later arrested when the police
arrived at the scene.

Deltamarin also shows its commitment to nature through donations to environmental organisations. In recent years
Deltamarin’s funds reserved for Christmas gifts have been donated to different organisations aiming to clean
and protect the Baltic Sea, which is one of the most polluted seas in the world and the nearest sea area from
Deltamarin’s headquarters.

The selfless and civic-minded attitude
displayed by both gentlemen were
commended by the Singapore Police
Force. This incident also showcased the
close par tnership bet ween the police
and the community in fighting crime.
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Report on Corporate Governance
AVIC International Maritime Holdings Limited (the “Company”), and together with its subsidiaries, the (“Group”)
is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. The Company understands that good
corporate governance is an integral element of a sound corporation and enables us to be more transparent and
forward-looking. In addition, sound corporate governance is an effective safeguard against fraud and dubious
financial engineering, and hence helps to protect our stakeholders’ interests and contribute to the long term
sustainability of the Company. This also helps the Company create long-term value and returns for our shareholders.
Corporate Governance Report
The Company was admitted to the Mainboard of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”)
on 12 September 2011 (the “Listing”). On 2 May 2012, the Monetary Authority of Singapore issued the revised Code
of Corporate Governance 2012 (the “Code”) which shall take effect with respect to annual reports of listed entities
relating to financial years commencing from 1 November 2012.
The Board is pleased to report on the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities as required by the
Code and the relevant sections of the Listing Manual issued by the SGX-ST (the “Listing Manual”). For the financial
year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”), the Group has complied in all material respects with the principles laid
down by the Code, and where there is any material deviation, appropriate explanation has been provided in this
Report. For easy reference, sections of the Code under discussion in this Report are specifically identified.
Shareholders are reminded that this Report should be read as a whole as other sections of this Report may also
have an impact on the specific disclosures in any one section.
Note: Guideline 2.2 of the Code, which requires independent directors to make up at least half of the Board in specified circumstances and to effect the necessary
changes in Board composition at the Annual General Meetings following the end of financial years commencing on or after 1 May 2016.

1. THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS
Principle 1:

Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The
Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the company. The Board works with the
Management to achieve this and the Management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board
Our board of directors (the “Board”) comprises the following members. Collectively the Directors possess the core
competencies and diversity of experience, which enable the Board to function effectively.
Diao Weicheng
Sun Yan
Li Meijin
Huang Guang
Huang Yongfeng
Liu Aiyi
Wang Mingchuan
Teng Cheong Kwee
Chong Teck Sin
Alice Lai Kuen Kan
Wang Puqu

Executive Chairman
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Lead Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director

The primary function of the Board is to protect and enhance long-term value and returns for Company’s shareholders.
Besides carrying out its statutory responsibilities, the principal functions of the Board are as follows:
(a) overseeing and approving the Group’s overall long-term strategic objectives and directions;

Report on Corporate Governance
(e) considering sustainability issues as part of its strategic formulation; and
(f) assuming responsibility for corporate governance.
The approval of the Board is required for matters such as corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, major
investments and divestments, material acquisitions and disposals of assets, major funding proposals, annual financial
budgets, major corporate policies on key areas of operations, the release of the Group’s quarterly, half and full
year results and interested person transactions of a material nature.
Directors’ Training and Development
Upon the Directors’ respective appointments to the Board, the Directors would have been briefed by the Company’s
legal adviser on their obligations as directors under the SGX-ST Listing Manual as well as the relevant Singapore laws
and regulations. The Directors will also briefed on the Group’s business strategies and operations. Directors have
the opportunity to visit the Group’s operational facilities and meet with the Group’s relevant management teams
(the “Management”) to gain a better understanding of the Group’s business operations.
A formal letter is sent to newly-appointed directors upon their appointment setting out, among other matters, their
roles, obligations, duties and responsibilities as members of the Board.
All Directors are provided with updates on changes in the relevant laws and regulations.
The Company has set aside a budget for all Directors to regularly attend appropriate courses, conferences and
seminars to keep abreast of developments. These include programmes run by the Singapore Institute of Directors
and other training institutions.
In FY2013, the Company also organised a two-day tailor-made training session for its Directors and key
management personnel on corporate governance and financial reporting matters. The training covered areas
such as the roles and responsibilities of directors, continuing listing and disclosure obligations, insider trading and
other offences, investor and media relations, corporate governance and financial reporting, risk management
and internal control matters and also an introductory course on understanding financial statements.
Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors are routinely briefed by the Executive Directors or the
Executive Officers (“Executive Officers”) at Board meetings or at separate sessions on business developments.
Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors, either individually or as a group, have full access to the
Executive Directors, the Management and the Company Secretary.
Board Committees
To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, our Board has established four Board Committees comprising an
Audit Committee (the “AC”), a Nominating Committee (the “NC”), a Remuneration Committee (the “RC”), and an
Executive Committee (the “EC”). These committees function within clearly defined written terms of reference and
operating procedures, which are reviewed on a regular basis. These committees assist the Board to better carry out
its stewardship and fiduciary responsibilities.
The Company has also adopted a set of Approving Authority & Limit, which sets out the level of authorisation
applicable to each level of the Group and Management for specified transactions, as well as transactions that
require Board approval.
Meetings of the Board and Attendance
The Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) provide for meetings of the Board to be held by way of
telephonic conference. The Board and Board Committees may also make decisions through circulating resolutions
in writing. Board and Board Committee meetings are held regularly, with the Board meeting no less than 4 times a year.

(b) overseeing and reviewing the management of the Group’s business affairs, performance and resource allocation;
(c) overseeing the processes of evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial
reporting and compliance;
(d) identifying the key stakeholder groups and reviewing the effect of their perception on the company’s reputation;
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At those meetings, the Board reviewed, inter alia, the Group’s financial performance, corporate strategy,
significant operational matters and business plans. At each Board meeting, the Chairman of the Board receives
regular updates from the chairpersons of the respective Board Committees. In addition, the Board regularly
receives reports from the Management on the financial and operational performance of the Group, and where
applicable, updates on developments in, and the Group’s compliance with, various corporate governance and
other regulatory requirements. Where any member of the Board is unable to attend a meeting in person, he or she
can participate by way of telephone or video-conference. From time to time, the Board and the various Board
Committees would, when required, approve for matters conducted in the ordinary course of business through
written resolutions which are circulated to the Directors.
The attendances of the Directors at the Board and Board Committee meetings held during FY2013 were, as follows:

Total number of meetings held

Audit
5

Nominating
2

Remuneration
2

Number of meetings attended
Diao Weicheng

4/4

1/5(1)

1/2

Sun Yan(2)

1/2

N/A

N/A

N/A

Li Jin(3)

1/3

N/A

1/2(1)

N/A

Xiao Zheng(4)

4/4

5/5 (1)

1/2(1)

N/A

Chen Xiaohong(4)

3/4

3/5 (1)

1/2(1)

N/A

Wu Weidong(4)

4/4

N/A

1/2(1)

N/A

Li Wei(4)

4/4

1/5 (1)

1/2(1)

N/A

Li Meijin(5)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Huang Guang(2)

1/2

N/A

N/A

N/A

1/2(1)

Huang Yongfeng(5)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Liu Aiyi(5)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Wang Mingchuan(5)

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Zou Kangning(6)

1/1

N/A

N/A

N/A

Teng Cheong Kwee

4/4

5/5

2/2

2/2

Chong Teck Sin

4/4

5/5

2/2

2/2

Alice Lai Kuen Kan

4/4

5/5

2/2

2/2

Wang Puqu(2)

2/2

N/A

N/A

N/A

Notes: N/A: Not applicable
(1)

Attended the meetings as an invitee.

(2)

Mr Sun Yan, Mr Huang Guang and Mr Wang Puqu were appointed as Non-Executive Director, Non- Executive Director and Independent Director respectively, on
28 May 2013. Mr Sun Yan was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and re-designated as an Executive Director on 17 January 2014.

(3)

Mr Li Jin, our former Non-Executive Deputy Chairman, resigned from his office on 30 August 2013.

(4)

Ms Chen Xiaohong, Mr Wu Weidong and Mr Li Wei resigned from their respective offices as Executive Director, and Mr Xiao Zheng resigned from his office as Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer, on 31 March 2014.

(5)

Mr Li Meijin was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on 31 March 2014. Mr Huang Yongfeng, Mr Wang Mingchuan and Mr Liu Aiyi were appointed
as Non-Executive Directors of the Company on 31 March 2014.

(6)

Mr Zou Kangning was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 10 September 2013 and subsequently resigned from his office on 17 March 2014.

The Executive Committee
The EC comprises the following Executive Directors:
Diao Weicheng
Sun Yan
Li Meijin

(a) making key decisions on the operational management and supervision of the management of the Group’s
operation;
(b) managing acquisition, disposal and transfer of fixed assets within limits authorised by the Board;
(c) approving operational expenditure within authorised limits;
(d) entering into sale and purchase contracts in relation to shipbuilding and ship-trading within authorised limits;
(e) managing procurement in relation to shipbuilding contract expenditure within authorised limits;
(f) entering into operational contracts within authorised limits;
(g) obtaining borrowings and credit facilities within authorised limits;
(h) writing-off trade and non-trade receivables within authorised limits;

Board Committees
Board
4

The principal responsibilities of the EC are as follows:

Chairman
Member
Member

The EC is formed for the purpose of supervising the management of the Group’s operations, as well as facilitating
and streamlining the Group’s decision-making process. This Committee is delegated with the authority and
responsibility for the operational management of the Group, within limits of authority delegated by the Board.

(i) granting credit limits to trade debtors within authorised limits; and
(j) reviewing the performance of the Company and the Group, deliberating on corporate strategies, group
business and principal risks, addressing impor tant operational and financial issues and making
recommendations to the Board for approval.
Any transaction that exceeds the above scope would require separate Board approval.
The execution of any transaction within the approval limits of the EC needs to be approved by the Chairman of the
EC and any one member of the EC.
2. BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE
Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise
objective judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management and 10%
shareholders. No individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s
decision making.
The Board comprises eleven (11) Directors of whom four (4) are independent, namely, Messrs Teng Cheong Kwee,
Chong Teck Sin, Wang Puqu and Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan. Three of the Independent Directors, namely Messrs Teng
Cheong Kwee, Chong Teck Sin and Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan serve as Chairperson of each of the three (3) Board
Committees respectively.
The criterion of independence determined in accordance with the Code. The Board considers an “Independent
Director” as one who has no relationship with the Company, its related companies, its 10% shareholders or its
officers who could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent
judgment in the conduct of the Group’s affairs. The Board believes there is a strong element of independence in
the Board, and that no individual or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision making. The Board
exercises independent judgment on corporate affairs and provides Management with a diverse, professional
and objective perspective on issues. The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the NC. Each
Independent Director is required to complete a Confirmation of Independence annually to confirm his
independence based on the guidelines as set out in the Code.
The NC and the Board reviews and assesses the size and composition of the Board and both the NC and the Board
are of the view that the Board’s size and composition allows for effective decision making, taking into account the
scope and nature of the operations of the Company.
The Board comprises persons who possess core competencies and experience in accounting and finance, business
and management experience, and strategic planning, as well as industry knowledge. The composition of the
Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and
experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core competencies for effective functioning and informed
decision-making.
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The Independent Directors actively participate in the Board Committees. They communicate regularly to discuss matters
such as the Group’s financial performance, industry conditions and outlook, corporate governance initiatives,
and board processes. When necessary, the Independent Directors conduct informal meeting sessions without the
presence of the Management.
3. CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Principle 3:

There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the
executives responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should represent a
considerable concentration of power.

Dr Diao Weicheng is the Executive Chairman of the Company. From 20 June 2012 till 16 January 2014, Dr Diao was
also concurrently appointed as the Interim Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

(Formerly Known As AVIC International Investments Limited)
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The principal responsibilities of the NC include, inter alia, the following:
(a) to conduct an annual review of the size, composition and core competencies of and skills required by the
Board and the Board Committees;
(b) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new Executive and Non-Executive Directors,
including making recommendations on the composition of the Board generally and the balance between
Executive and Non-Executive Directors appointed to the Board;
(c) to review, assess and recommend nominee(s) or candidate(s) for appointment or election to the Board, having
regard to his/her qualifications, competency and whether or not he/she is independent and in the case of a
re-nomination, to his/her contribution and performance (e.g. attendance, preparedness, participation and
candour);
(d) to determine, on an annual basis, if a Director is independent;
(e) to review and approve any new employment of related persons and the proposed terms of their employment;

In his role as the Executive Chairman, Dr Diao bears responsibility for the workings of the board and ensures that
procedures are introduced to comply with the Code. As Executive Chairman, Dr Diao is also responsible for the
overall business direction and strategy of the Group.
Dr Diao maintains close consultation with all Board members, and ensures that each member of the Board and the
Management work well together with integrity and competency. He sets the tone of Board discussions to promote
open and frank debate and effective decision making. In particular, Dr Diao facilitates the effective contribution
of Non-Executive Directors. He also takes a leading role in ensuring the Company’s drive to achieve and maintain
a high standard of corporate governance practices. Dr Diao is responsible for ensuring that Board meetings are
held as and when necessary, and matters that require the attention of the Board are included in the agendas, and
further that adequate information and time is provided to the Board members to facilitate discussion and decision
making. He is assisted by the Company Secretary at all Board Meetings. Dr Diao also ensures that there is effective
communication between the Company and its shareholders.
Mr Sun Yan was first appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director on 28 May 2013. Mr Sun Yan was later
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 17 January 2014, and accordingly he
has been re-designated as an Executive Director of the Company. As the Chief Executive Officer, Mr Sun Yan is in
charge of the overall operations and management of the Group, as well as implementing the strategic policies,
directions or decisions made by the Chairman and/or the Board of the Company.
With Mr Sun Yan’s appointment as the Chief Executive Officer, the role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer are now separated and the responsibilities divided accordingly.
To enhance the independence of the Board, the Board has appointed Mr Teng Cheong Kwee as Lead Independent
Director. As Lead Independent Director, Mr Teng serves as the leader of the Independent Directors in raising queries
and takes up matters when circumstances required. Periodically, Mr Teng will convene meetings of the Independent
Directors, without the presence of Executive Directors and the Management, and will provide feedback to the
Executive Chairman after such meetings.
4. BOARD MEMBERSHIP
Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of
directors to the Board.
The NC is responsible for making recommendations on all board appointments and re-nominations of Directors
seeking re-election.

(f) to review the Board succession plans for directors, in particular, the Chairman and CEO;
(g) to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each individual Director to the
effectiveness of the Board, and to decide how the Board’s performance may be evaluated and propose
objective performance criteria;
(h) to decide whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a
Director of the Company, particularly when he/she has multiple board representations and other principal
commitments; and
(i) to review training and professional development programs for the Board on an annual basis.
Pursuant to its duties and responsibilities, the NC conducts an annual review of Directors’ independence and is of
the view that Messrs Teng Cheong Kwee, Chong Teck Sin, Wang Puqu and Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan are independent
in accordance with the Code’s definition.
The NC has reviewed the training needs for the Directors in FY2013 and encouraged directors to attend the relevant
training courses that could enhance the knowledge of directors to perform its duties as Directors of the Company.
New Directors are appointed on Board, after the NC has reviewed and considered the skills, qualifications and
experience of the nominee. Further, the NC, in considering the re-appointment of a Director, evaluate such
Director’s contribution and performance, such as his attendance at meetings of the Board and/or Board
committees, participation, candour and any special contribution.
Pursuant to the Article 91 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being is required to retire at least
once every three (3) years by rotation. As such, Mr Teng Cheong Kwee and Mr Chong Teck Sin will be retiring as
directors by rotation. The NC has deliberated and has decided to recommend to the Board the nomination of
Mr Teng Cheong Kwee and Mr Chong Teck Sin for re-election.
Pursuant to Article 97 of the Articles, all newly appointed Directors so appointed by way of the Directors’ resolutions
to the Board are required to retire at the next annual general meeting (the “AGM”) following their appointment.
The retiring Directors are eligible to offer themselves for re-election. As such, Mr Huang Guang, Mr Huang Yongfeng,
Mr Li Meijin, Mr Liu Aiyi, Mr Sun Yan, Mr Wang Mingchuan, and Mr Wang Puqu who were appointed by way of
Directors’ resolutions, will be retiring as Directors at the forthcoming AGM. The NC has deliberated and has
recommended to the Board the nomination of these seven (7) Directors for re-election.
The NC has noted that some of the Directors also serve on the boards of a number of other listed companies.

The NC comprises Mr Teng Cheong Kwee as the Chairman, and Dr Diao Weicheng, Mr Chong Teck Sin and Ms Alice
Lai Kuen Kan, as Committee members. The majority of the Committee members are Non-Executive Independent
Directors, except for Dr Diao Weicheng.
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The Board has not made a determination on the maximum number of board representations a Director may
hold because it believes that each Director has to personally determine the demands of his or her competing
directorships and obligations and assess how much time is available to serve on the Board effectively. The Board
and the NC are of the opinion that in determining whether a Director is able to devote sufficient time to discharge
his duties, the assessment should take into account the Directors’ level of participation in the Company, including
his contributions and during meetings of the Board and relevant Board Committee and his attendance at such
meetings.
The Board and NC are satisfied that the Directors with multiple board representations have devoted adequate
time and attention to fulfil their duties as Directors of the Company.

Report on Corporate Governance
The Company Secretary also ensures that the Company complies with the requirements of the Companies
Act, Cap. 50, and the Listing Manual. Under the direction of the Executive Chairman, the Company Secretary’s
responsibilities include ensuring good information flow within the Board and the Board Committees and between
senior management and Non-Executive Directors, as well as facilitating orientation and assisting with professional
development as required. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the Board’s
approval.
The Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, can as a group or individually, when deemed fit, direct the Company to
appoint professional adviser(s) to render professional advice.
7. PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

5. BOARD PERFORMANCE
Principle 5:

There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board
committees and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The NC is responsible for recommending a framework for the evaluation of the Board’s and its Board Committees’,
the Chairman’s and each individual Director’s performance for the approval of the Board. Each member of our
NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of the assessment of his performance or re-nomination.
The NC has adopted a framework for evaluation of Board performance. It reviews the framework and criteria for
evaluating the Board’s performance from time to time. The performance criteria for the Board evaluation includes
an evaluation of the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s access to information, accountability,
Board processes, Board performance in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities, communication with
management and standard of conduct of the Directors. The NC has also incorporated in the framework a review of
the effectiveness of each of the Board Committees, as well as an evaluation of individual Director’s performance.

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should
be involved in deciding his own remuneration.
The RC makes recommendations to the Board on the framework of remuneration, and the specific remuneration
packages for each Director and key management personnel, including the Chief Executive Officer.
The RC comprises Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan, as the Chairperson, and Messrs Teng Cheong Kwee and Chong Teck Sin,
as the Committee members, all of whom are Non-Executive Independent Directors.
The principal responsibilities of the RC are as follows:
(a) recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and Executive Officers which
covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses,
options and benefits-in-kind;

The NC carried out an annual evaluation of Board and Committee performance through completion of a
questionnaire by each Director. In addition, each Director also carried out a self-assessment of his performance
by completing a questionnaire. The NC reviewed and discussed the results of the evaluation, and presented the
findings to the Board.

(b) determining specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director;

6. ACCESS TO INFORMATION

(d) determining the targets for any performance-related pay schemes in respect of the Executive Directors of the
Group and to recommend to the Board the terms of renewal of their service contracts.

Principle 6:

In order to fulfil their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, adequate and
timely information prior to the Board meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to
make informed decisions to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

To enable the Board to fulfil its responsibilities, the Management strives to provide the Directors with adequate
information for Board meetings on a timely and ongoing basis. Prior to each Board meeting, the Directors are
each provided with the relevant documents and information necessary, including financial statements together
with background and explanatory statements, and progress reports of the Group’s business operations. Further,
the Directors are entitled to request from Management such additional information as required in order to make
informed and timely decisions.
As a general rule, notices are sent to the Directors in advance of Board meetings, followed by the Board papers.
The Directors (whether individually or as whole) have separate and independent access to the Management
and the Company Secretary at all times, and may seek independent professional advice if necessary, at the
expense of the Company. The Company Secretary generally attends all formal meetings of the Board and the
Board Committees and ensures that all procedures are followed. Where the Company Secretary is unable to
attend any Board meeting, he ensures that a suitable replacement is in attendance and that proper minutes of the
same are taken and kept.

(c) recommending to the Board the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors, which should be appropriate
to the level of their respective contributions, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, and the
responsibilities of the Non-Executive Directors; and

The RC has access to appropriate expert advice regarding executive compensation matters, if required. The RC’s
recommendations will be submitted for endorsement by our Board. Each member of the RC refrains from voting
on any resolutions in respect of the assessment of his remuneration. No Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.
The remuneration packages of the Executive Directors are based on service contracts. The Non-Executive and
Independent Directors are paid yearly directors’ fees and these fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
the AGM. In setting the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors, the Company takes into account the
performance of the group and that of the Executive Directors which are aligned with long term interest and risk
policies of the Group.
8. LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
Principle 8:

The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies
of the company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the directors to provide
good stewardship of the company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the
company. However, companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose.

The Executive Directors have service contracts of an initial term of three (3) years which continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than six (6) months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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The remuneration package of the Executive Directors and key management personnel includes basic salary
and contribution to compulsory pension plans as required under the relevant PRC laws. In setting remuneration
packages, the Company takes into consideration the remuneration and employment conditions within the same
industry and in comparable companies. The RC shall review the compensation annually and ensure the remuneration
of the Executive Directors and key management personnel is commensurate with their performance and that of
the Company, giving due regard to the financial and commercial health and business needs of the Group.

(4)

Mr Li Meijin was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company with effect from 31 March 2014. Mr Li Meijin did not draw any remuneration from the
Company for FY2013. Mr Huang Yongfeng, Mr Liu Aiyi and Mr Wang Mingchuan were appointed as Non-Executive Directors of the Company with effect from
31 March 2014. None of Mr Huang Yongfeng, Mr Liu Aiyi and Mr Wang Mingchuan drew any remuneration from the Company for FY2013.

(5)

Mr Zou Kangning was appointed as Non- Executive Director on 10 September 2013. He resigned from his office on 17 March 2014.

(6)

Ms Zhang Yiqiong was appointed as a Vice President of the Company with effect from 3 September 2013. Ms Zhang Yiqiong has agreed not to accept any
remuneration from the Group for her role as Vice President of the Company.

(7)

Ms Li Ying, our former Financial Controller, resigned from her office on 30 October 2013.

(8)

Mr Liao Hongbing was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer on 31 March 2014.

The Independent Directors receive Directors’ fees, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, as well
as the responsibilities and obligations of the Directors. The Company recognises the need to pay competitive fees
to attract, motivate and retain Directors without being excessive.

The salary shown is inclusive of compulsory pension plans as required under the relevant PRC and/or Singapore
laws. The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM.

9. DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION
Principle 9:

Each Company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of
remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s annual report. It should
provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link
between remuneration paid to directors and key management personnel, and performance.

Generally, the nature of the role performed and market practice are taken into consideration in determining
the composition of the remuneration package for each of its staff. For key executive officers, the Company adopts
a performance-driven approach to compensation with rewards linked to individual, team and corporate
performance.
The remuneration paid or payable to the Directors and Executive Officers for services rendered for FY2013 by
percentage is, as follows:

The remuneration of the key executive officers and the Executive Directors, including the CEO, has been disclosed
in bands of S$250,000. The Board is of the view that it would not be in the best interest to disclose the details of the
remuneration, having regard to the highly competitive human resource environment, the confidential nature of
staff remuneration matters and so as not to hamper the Company’s efforts to retain and nurture its talent pool.
For FY2013, the aggregate amount of the total remuneration paid or payable to the Independent Directors in terms
of Directors’ fees (disclosed to the nearest thousand) is S$263,000, as indicated in the table below:

Directors
Teng Cheong Kwee

Remuneration bands
Directors
S$250,000 to below S$500,000
Diao Weicheng
Directors
Below S$250,000
Li Jin(1)
Sun Yan(2)
Xiao Zheng(3)
Chen Xiaohong(3)
Wu Weidong(3)
Li Wei(3)
Li Meijin(4)
Huang Guang(2)
Huang Yongfeng(4)
Liu Aiyi(4)
Wang Mingchuan(4)
Zou Kangning(5)
Teng Cheong Kwee
Chong Teck Sin
Alice Lai Kuen Kan
Wang Puqu(2)
Executive Officers
Below S$250,000
Zhang Yiqiong(6)
Li Ying(7)
Liao Hongbing(8)

Salary
%

Fees
%

100

-

100
100
100
100
100
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
-

100
N/A

Allowances
%

Other
Benefits
%

Total
%

-

-

-

100

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
-

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
100
100
100
100

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
-

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
-

100
100
100
100
100
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
100
100
100
100

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

100
N/A

Notes: N/A.: Not applicable
(1)

Mr Li Jin, our former Non- Executive Deputy Chairman, resigned from his office on 30 August 2013.

(2)

Mr Sun Yan, Mr Huang Guang and Mr Wang Puqu were appointed as Non-Executive Director, Non-Executive Director and Independent Director respectively, on
28 May 2013. Mr Sun Yan was appointed as Chief Executive Officer and redesignated as an Executive Director on 17 January 2014.

(3)

Mr Li Wei, Mr Wu Weidong, Mr Xiao Zheng and Ms Chen Xiaohong, our former Executive Directors, resigned from their offices as directors on 31 March 2014. Mr Xiao
Zheng also resigned as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 31 March 2014.

Aggregate Fees Paid for FY2013
(S$)

Total
(%)

80,000

80,000

100

Chong Teck Sin

80,000

80,000

100

Alice Lai Kuen Kan

80,000

80,000

100

Wang Puqu(1)

40,000

23,000

100

Note:
(1)

Performance
Bonus
%

Fees
(S$)/year

Mr Wang Puqu was appointed as Independent Director on 28 May 2013. His fee has been pro-rated accordingly.

The aggregate amount of total remuneration paid by way of salaries to the Executive Directors in FY2013 is not more
than S$860,000. For FY2013, Mr Sun Yan, Mr Huang Guang and Mr Zou Kangning did not receive any fees for their
roles as a Non-Executive Director of the Company.
The aggregate amount of the total remuneration paid to the key executive officers (who are not Directors or Chief
Executive Officer) for FY2013 is not more than S$250,000. The Company’s current key executive officers comprise
its executive directors, Dr Diao Weicheng, Mr Sun Yan, Mr Li Meijin as well as its Chief Financial Officer, Mr Liao Hongbing
and its Vice-President, Ms Zhang Yiqiong. Ms Li Ying has resigned from her office on 30 October 2013.
The Company has no share option plans. Accordingly, no share option has been granted to the above Directors
and Executive Officers.
There were no employees of the Group who are immediate family members of a Director, the Chief Executive
Officer or a substantial shareholder of the Company, and whose remuneration exceeded S$50,000 during FY2013.
“Immediate family member” means the spouse, child, adopted child, stepchild, brother, sister and parent.
10. ACCOUNTABILITY
Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s
performance, position and prospects.
Through the quarterly, half yearly and annual financial statements and announcements to shareholders, the Board
aims to provide shareholders with adequate details that would allow a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Group’s financial position and prospects. The AC has been tasked to review the Company’s financial
information to ensure that the objective is met.
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The Management currently provides the Board with appropriately detailed management accounts and such
explanation and information on a regular basis and as the Board may require from time to time, to enable the
Board to make a balanced and informed assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects. The
Board will update the Shareholders on the operations and financial position of the Company through quarterly
and full year announcements as well as timely announcements of other matters as prescribed by the relevant rules
and regulations.
The Board has established written policies where appropriate, to ensure compliance with legislative and regulatory
requirements such as the Listing Manual.
11. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
Principle 11: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’
interests and the company’s assets, and should determine the nature and extent of the significant
risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.

Report on Corporate Governance
The Board notes that no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of
material errors, poor judgment in decision-taking, human error, fraud or other irregularities.
12. AUDIT COMMITTEE
Principle 12: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference, which clearly set out
its authority and duties.
The AC comprises Mr Chong Teck Sin, as the AC Chairman, and Mr Teng Cheong Kwee and Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan
as the Audit Committee members, all of whom are Non-Executive Independent Directors.
The Board is of the view that at least two members of the AC, including the AC Chairman, have the requisite
qualification, recent and relevant financial management knowledge, expertise and experience to discharge
their responsibilities properly.
The principal responsibilities of the AC, includes, inter alia, the following:

The Group’s internal controls and systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and
reliability of the financial information and to safeguard and maintain accountability of assets. Procedures are in
place to identify major business risks and evaluate potential financial effects, as well as for the authorisation of
capital expenditure and investments.
The internal auditors carried out a review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s key internal controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls as well as risk management to the extent of their scope
as laid out in their audit plan as approved by the Audit Committee. In addition, the external auditors, as part of their
annual audit of the Group’s financial statements, considered the Group’s system of internal controls, including
accounting procedures, internal controls and other aspects of the Group’s business covered by their audit
procedures. Any material weaknesses in internal controls, together with recommendations for improvement, are reported
to the AC. The AC also reviews the effectiveness of the actions taken by the Management on the recommendations
made by the internal auditors in this respect. To facilitate the AC, internal auditors to make an informed assessment
of the Group’s internal controls, information such as financial records and financial statements are provided by
the Management.
In connection with the external audit of the financial statements of the group for the year ended 31 December
2013, the external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP have reviewed aspects of books, records, and internal accounting
controls of the group and have not noted any material internal control weakness.
The Board has received assurance from the CEO and CFO that (i) the financial records have been properly
maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s operations and finances and
(ii) the Company risk management and internal control systems in place are effective.
Under the Code, the Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that the Management
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interest and the
company’s assets, and should determine the nature and extent of significant risks which the Board is willing to take
in achieving its strategic objectives.
The Management regularly reviews the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant
business risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The Management reviews all
significant control policies and procedures and highlights all significant matters to the Board and the AC.
The Board is satisfied that the system of internal procedures, controls and reviews that the Group has in place
provides reasonable assurance against material financial misstatements or loss, safeguarding of assets, the
maintenance of proper accounting records, reliability of financial information, compliance with legislation,
regulations and best practices and the identification and management of business risks. The Board, with the
concurrence of the AC, is therefore of the opinion that the Group’s system of internal controls is adequate to
address financial, operational, and compliance and information technology risks that the Group faces in its
current business environment.

(a) reviewing, together with the internal and external auditors, the audit plan, their evaluation of the system of
internal accounting controls, their letter to the Management and the Management’s response. It is intended
that the AC shall, at least once a year, have a separate session with the external auditors;
(b) reviewing the quarterly, half yearly and annual results announcements before submission to our Board for
approval, focusing in particular on changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant
adjustments resulting from the audit, compliance with accounting standards and compliance with the Listing
Manual and any other relevant statutory or regulatory requirements;
(c) reviewing and reporting to the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control procedures
implemented by the Group, determining the scope of internal audit examinations and ensuring co-ordination
between the internal/external auditors and the Management, and reviewing the assistance given by the
Management to the auditors, and discussing problems and concerns, if any, arising from audits, and any
matters which the auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of the Management, where necessary);
(d) reviewing and discussing with the external auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected
infringement of any relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on our
Group’s operating results or financial position, and the Management’s response;
(e) considering and recommending to the Board on the proposals to the shareholders on the appointment or
re-appointment of the external auditors, matters relating to the resignation or dismissal of the auditors and
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;
(f) reviewing interested person transactions (if any) falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual;
(g) reviewing potential conflicts of interests, if any;
(h) undertaking such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board, and reporting to the Board its
findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC;
(i) generally undertaking such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Listing Manual, or
by such amendments as may be made thereto from time to time;
(j) reviewing and approving all hedging policies and instruments to be implemented by our Group, if any; and
(k) reviewing and approving the appointment of the Chief Financial Officer and Financial Controller to the extent
that the finance and accounting function is appropriately resourced.
The AC has full authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, and will be given full access to
and full co-operation from the Management and external and internal auditors and full discretion to invite any
Director, Executive Officer or other employee of the Group to attend its meetings, and is given reasonable
resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly and effectively.
The AC meets with the external auditors and the internal auditors (if necessary), without the presence of the
Management, at least annually.
The AC undertakes such further functions as may be agreed to by the AC and the Board from time to time.
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During the course of FY 2013, the AC’s activities included:
(a) reviewing the quarterly, half yearly and annual results announcements before submission to the Board for
approval;
(b) reviewing the internal control procedures implemented by the Group;
(c) reviewing the annual audit plan, approving any changes as necessary;
(d) reviewing the appointment of the independent internal auditor;
(e) reviewing the appointment of the independent external auditor;
(f) reviewing the interested party transactions falling within the scope of chapter 9 of the listing manual; and
(g) reviewing the group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies.
Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), the external auditors of the Company, were responsible for providing services
in connection with the audit of the financial statements of the Group for FY2013. For FY2013, the remunerations in
respect of audit services and non-audit services provided by Deloitte for the Group amounted to approximately
RMB2.83million and RMB0.14million respectively, amounting to an aggregate remuneration of RMB 2.97 million. The
non-audit services provided were in relation to tax filing of the Company.
The AC has reviewed and is satisfied that the external auditors have not provided any non-audit services to the
Group during FY2013 that will prejudice their independence and objectivity.
The Company has put in place a whistle-blowing framework, endorsed by the AC where employees of the
Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other
matters and to ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent investigations of such matters and for
appropriate follow up actions. There were no whistle-blowing letters received during the year and until the date
of this report.
13. INTERNAL AUDIT
Principle 13: The Company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately resourced and
independent of the activities it audits.
With effect from 3 October 2013, the Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PWC”) as its internal
auditor. PWC has undertaken reviews in accordance with an internal audit plan approved by the AC. These
reviews were undertaken to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls. The internal auditor
reports directly to the AC. PWC has unfettered access to all the Company’s documents, records, properties and
personnel, including access to the AC. The internal auditor’s scope of work and its internal audit findings and
recommendations, together with Management’s responses were submitted to the AC for review. The AC approves
the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation of PWC as the Company’s internal auditor.
14. SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
Principle 14: Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognise, protect and
facilitate the exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and update such governance
arrangements.
The Company is committed to establishing a corporate governance culture that promotes fair and equitable
treatment of all shareholders. All shareholders are treated fairly and equitably, and enjoy specific rights under the
Companies Act and the Articles.

(Formerly Known As AVIC International Investments Limited)
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These rights include, amongst others, pecuniary rights, for example, the right to participate in profit distributions
and membership rights such as the right to participate in general meetings and the right to exercise their voting
rights. Under Article 65 of the Articles, all shareholders are entitled to attend and vote at the general meetings by
person or proxy. Further, pursuant to Article 71 of the Articles, a shareholder can appoint up to a maximum of two
proxies, who need not be shareholders of the Company. Guideline 14.3 of the Code recommends that companies
should allow corporations which provide nominee or custodial services to appoint more than two proxies cannot
be complied with until the law is changed to allow unequal treatment of shareholders holding the same class
of ordinary shares such that one set of shareholders, i.e., nominees, can be entitled to appointment more than
two proxies.
Shareholders are given notice of general meetings with the sufficient notice period as required in the
Companies Act, and are informed of the relevant rules and procedures governing general meetings, including voting
procedures.
The Company respects the equal information rights of all shareholders and is committed to the practice of fair,
transparent and timely disclosure. All material information and changes in the Company or its business which
would be likely to materially affect the price or value of the Company’s shares are disclosed in a timely manner via
SGXNET announcements.
15. COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Principle 15: Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy
to promote regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.
The Company recognises that effective communication leads to transparency and enhances accountability.
As such, the Company is committed to regular and proactive communication with its shareholders in line with
continuous disclosure obligations of the Company according to the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
The Company regularly conveys pertinent information, gathers views or input, and addresses shareholders’
concerns. In this regard, the Company provides timely information to its shareholders via SGXNET announcements,
the Company’s Investor Relations website (http://avicintl.listedcompany.com/home.html) and news releases and
ensures that price-sensitive information is publicly released, and is announced within the mandatory period.
The Company does not practise selective disclosure. In the event there is inadvertent disclosure of material
information that has not been announced, for example in the course of the Company’s interactions with the investing
community, a media release or announcement will be released via SGXNET promptly.
The Company’s general meetings are the forum for dialogue with shareholders and allow the Board and
management to address shareholder questions and concerns. In addition, during the course of FY2013,
management presented to various local and foreign investors and the media investor and/or publicity meetings
conducted by the company. These meetings provide a forum for Management to explain the Group’s strategy and
financial performance. Management also uses meetings with investors and analysts to solicit their perceptions of
the Group.
16. CONDUCT OF SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS
Principle 16: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of shareholders,
and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting
the company.
Shareholders are informed of shareholders’ meeting through notices contained in annual reports or circulars sent
to all shareholders. These notices are also published in the newspaper and posted onto the SGXNET. If shareholders
are unable to attend the meeting, the Articles allow a shareholder to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote
in place of the shareholder. The participation of shareholders is encouraged at the Company’s AGM through open
question and answer session.
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Resolutions at general meetings are, as far as possible, structured separately on each substantially separate issue
and may be voted on independently.
The Chairman of each of the EC, AC, RC and NC will attend the Company’s AGM to address shareholders’
questions relating to the work of these Committees. The Company’s external auditors, Deloitte, will also be invited
to attend the AGM and are available to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries by the shareholders
relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of their auditors’ report.
In accordance with the Code requirements, all resolutions at the general meetings shall be put to vote by poll.
Announcements of the detailed results of voting showing the number of votes cast for and against each resolution
and the respective percentages are also made after each general meeting.
The minutes of the General Meetings are prepared by the Company Secretary and include substantial moments or
queries from shareholders and responses from the Chairman, the Board and the Management.
17. DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
In compliance with the rules of the Listing Manual, the Company has devised its own internal compliance code
to provide guidance to its officers. Directors and employees of the Company are advised not to deal in the
Company’s shares on short-term considerations or when they are in the possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information.
The Company prohibits dealings in its shares by its officers and employees during the period commencing two (2)
weeks before the announcement of the Company’s financial statements for each of the first three (3) quarters of its
financial year, or one (1) month before the announcement of the Company’s full financial year results, as the case
may be, and ending on the day of the announcement of the relevant results.
18. MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in this section and in the section referred to as “Interested Person Transactions” below, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have entered into any material contract involving the interests of the Chief
Executive Officer, each director or controlling shareholder, which is subsisting as at 31 December 2013, or if not then
subsisting, then entered into since the end of the previous financial year ended 31 December 2012:
The particulars of the relevant material contracts are set out below.
(a) In connection with the intra-group restructuring (“Proposed Intra-group Restructuring”) as disclosed on
pages 100 and 101 of the Company’s information memorandum dated 10 August 2011 in relation to the
Company’s listing (the “Information Memorandum”), AVIC International Kairong Limited (“AVIC International
Kairong”), the majority shareholder of the Company, desired to fund the Proposed Intra-group Restructuring by
extending an unsecured shareholder’s loan (the “Shareholder’s Loan”) to the Company, pursuant to which AVIC
International Kairong agreed to make available to the Company a loan facility of an aggregate principal
amount of US$24,000,000 (“Principal Sum”) with a loan tenure of three years. The Shareholder’s Loan was made
on terms and conditions of a facility agreement dated 28 August 2012 entered into between AVIC International
Kairong as lender, and the Company as the borrower. The Shareholder’s Loan shall bear an interest rate of
0.85% per annum (“Interest Per Annum”), with the cumulative interest payable to AVIC International Kairong
being US$612,000 (“Cumulative Interest”).
On 28 August 2012 and 2 November 2012, AVIC International Kairong remitted US$15,900,000 and US$8,100,000
respectively to the Company. The terms of repayment will be negotiated six months before the end of the loan
tenure. For the avoidance of doubt, the interest per annum and the cumulative interest are less than 3% of the
Group’s audited net tangible assets as at 31 December 2011.
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On 8 April 2013, the Company and AVIC International Kairong entered into a supplementary agreement,
pursuant to which both parties agree that the loan principal amount of USD24,000,000 would be revised to
a Singapore-dollars denominated revised principal amount of SGD29,769,600. The revised principal amount
was determined at the fixed exchange rate of SGD1.2404 against USD1.00. With effect from 1 April 2013, the
principal interest will be computed based on principal amount of SGD29,769,600 instead.
For the purposes of Proposed Intra-group Restructuring, on 20 March 2013, AVIC International Kairong granted
an additional US$3,250,000 interest free loan to AVIC International Ship Development Pte Ltd (“AISD”), a whollyowned subsidiary of the Company with the loan tenure of three years commencing from 20 March 2013.
(b) A deed dated 20 December 2012 was entered into between the Company and AVIC International Kairong
pursuant to which the rights and benefits of AVIC International Kairong under a facility agreement with
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited (the “Bank”) in connection with a term loan for a
principal sum of EUR26,000,000 was assigned to the Company. The term loan bears an interest at the rate of
3.0% per annum and is for a term of three years. Under the deed, the Company also agreed to pay the Bank
such amounts which may be chargeable by the Bank on the terms and conditions as set out under the said
facility agreement. No payment shall be made by the Company to AVIC International Kairong in connection
with the assignment or the facility.
On 20 December 2013, AVIC International Kairong granted the Group an interest-free loan with a principal
amount of EUR2,800,000 for a loan tenure of 6 months commencing from 20 December 2013 for the purposes
of the Company’s repayment of 10% of EUR26,000,000 loan.
(c) The following contracts, the details of which are disclosed in pages 97 and 98 of the Information Memorandum,
including (i) the management agreement dated 29 June 2011 (the “Management Agreement”) between the
Company and its majority shareholder, the AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd. (“AVIC International Beijing”),
(ii) the service agreement dated 3 August 2011 (the “Service Agreement”) between AVIC Kaixin (Beijing) Ship
Industry Co., Ltd. (“Kaixin Beijing”) and AVIC International Beijing, and (iii) the sale and purchase agreement dated
18 June 2011 (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) between Kaixin Beijing and China National Aero-Technology
Import and Export Corporation (“CATIC”):
(i) Management Agreement:
On 29 June 2011, the Company entered into the Management Agreement with AVIC International Beijing,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide project management and consultancy services
(“M&C Services”) with effect from 1 January 2011, for the nineteen (19) vessels to be delivered by year 2013,
until the date when the outstanding order books of AVIC International Beijing as at 31 December 2010 are
fulfilled, for an annual fee of RMB28.0 million (before sales taxes and surcharges of approximately 5.5%). The
fee is payable quarterly and will be subject to adjustments as may be agreed upon between the parties,
depending on the progress of the construction of the vessels.
(ii) The Sale and Purchase Agreement:
On 18 June 2011, Kaixin Beijing, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with CATIC, pursuant to which a fee of RMB28.3 million is payable to Kaixin Beijing for,
inter alia, the provision of project management services, the handling of export procedural matters, and
the delivery of nineteen (19) vessels by our Group. The vessels will subsequently be sold by CATIC to a third
party buyer.
The fee payable is determined based on the actual cost of the vessels and arrived at on an arm’s-length
basis. The total fee is payable to Kaixin Beijing within fifteen (15) days of receipt of milestone payments
received by CATIC on the sale of the vessels to the third party buyer.
On 6 August 2012, Kaixin Beijing entered into a novation agreement with CATIC and AVIC International
Beijing, pursuant to which CATIC will novate all its rights and obligations under a sale and purchase
agreement to AVIC International Beijing. The salient terms and conditions of the sale and purchase
agreement remain unchanged.
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On 2 December 2013, Kaixin Beijing entered into a supplemental agreement with AVIC International Beijing.
Pursuant to such supplemental agreement, the service fee of an aggregate amount of RMB14.6million
(before sales taxes and surcharges) is payable to Kaixin Beijing by 31 December 2013. This service
agreement is for the additional services provided such as transportation for delivery of 19 vessels, insurance
coverage, inspection and bargaining work performed for the completion of the nineteen (19) vessels.

The service fee agreement was entered into under the authority conferred by IPT Mandate in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures for interested
person transactions as disclosed therein.
(8)

The service agreement was entered into under the authority conferred by IPT Mandate in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures for interested
person transactions as disclosed therein.
AVIC International Ship Development (China) Co., Ltd. (“AISD Shanghai”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into three (3) service agreements
with AVIC Dingheng Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. (“Dingheng Shipyard”) and AVIC International Shanghai Co., Ltd. (“AVIC International Shanghai”) on 1 October 2013.
Under such agreements, the management fees of an aggregate amount of RMB12,130,000, (before sales taxes and surcharges) (“Management Fee”) is payable
to AISD Shanghai from Dingheng Shipyard. Pursuant to the agreements, AISD Shanghai shall provide services in support of vessel construction, export, delivery and
import of marine equipment; ship-trading related consultancy services in respect of vessel construction, import and export; and other import and export related
business and is chargeable by man hour basis.

(9)

19. INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The Group has adopted an internal policy which sets out the procedures for the identification, approval and
monitoring of interested person transactions (“IPTs”). All IPTs are subject to review by the AC.

The service agreements were entered into under the authority conferred by IPT Mandate in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures for interested
person transactions as disclosed therein.
(10)

Aggregate value of all IPTs during the
financial year under review
(excluding transactions less than
$100,000 and transactions conducted
under shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920) (1)
(RMB’000)

On 26 November 2013, Kaixin Beijing a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agency agreement with Taizhou CATIC Shipbuilding Heavy
Industry Limited (“Taizhou Shipyard”) and AVIC International Beijing pursuant to which Kaixin Beijing and AVIC International Beijing shall act as the co-agent to
provide ancillary services for the construction by Taizhou Shipyard of 8 bulk carriers, at a service fee payable to Kaixin Beijing of US$2.4 million for the 4 carriers plus
RMB12.2 million for the other 4 carriers;

Aggregate value of all IPTs conducted
under shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding
transactions less than $100,000)(1)
(RMB’000)

On 22 October 2013, Deltamarin Ltd (“Deltamarin”), a 79.57%-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a consultancy, engineering services agreement with
AVIC International Beijing, pursuant to which the designing services fee on an aggregate amount of EUR450,000 (approximate RMB3.7million) shall be payable to
Deltamarin by AVIC International Beijing for services rendered.
On 23 October 2013, Deltamarin entered into a supplementary agreement with AVIC International Beijing and AVIC International Kairong Limited (“AVIC
International Kairong”). Pursuant to the supplemental agreement, AVIC International Kairong be responsible for the communication and coordination between
AVIC International Beijing and Deltamarin, and AVIC International Kairong shall be responsible for paying Deltamarin.
The service agreement and the supplemental agreement were entered into under the authority conferred by IPT Mandate in accordance with the guidelines and
review procedures for interested person transactions as disclosed therein.

5,848

-

On 20 May 2013, Deltamarin Ltd (“Deltamarin”), a 79.57%-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a consultancy, engineering services agreement with
AVIC Weihai Shipyard Co., Ltd (“AVIC Weihai”) pursuant to which the services fee of an aggregate amount of EUR62,000 (approximate RMB0.51million) shall be
payable by AVIC Weihai to Deltamarin.

Service fee income from AVIC International Beijing(3)

-

6,860

The service agreement was entered into under the authority conferred by IPT Mandate in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures for interested
person transactions as disclosed therein.

Management Service Fee income from CATICO(4)

-

5,637

Interest expenses to AVIC Kairong

(11)

FY2013
M&C Services fee income from AVIC International Beijing

(2)

-

1,252

On 18 October 2013, AVIC International Ship Development (China) Co., Ltd. (“AISD Shanghai”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a steel
plate trading agreement with Dingheng Shipyard. Pursuant to the steel plate trading agreement, AISD Shanghai will assist Dingheng Shipyard to source steel plates
at an agreed aggregated amount of RMB4.7 million and the amount is payable to AISD Shanghai from Dingheng Shipyard.

Management Service fee income from AVIC
International Beijing(6)

-

14,448

The agreement was entered into under the authority conferred by IPT Mandate in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures for interested person
transactions as disclosed therein.

Management Service fee income from AVIC
International Beijing(7)

-

14,600

Service fee income from Taizhou CATIC Shipbuilding
Heavy Industry Limited(8)

-

464

Management Service Fee Income from AVIC
Dingheng Shipbuilding Co., Ltd(9)

-

3,100

-

1,610

-

510

-

4,682

5,848

53,163

(5)

Ship designing Fee from AVIC International Kairong
Limited(10)
Ship designing Fee from AVIC Weihai Shipyard Co., Ltd

(11)

Other income from AVIC Dingheng Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (12)
Aggregate Amount
Note:
(1)

The amounts of the transactions are before sales taxes and surcharges.

(2)

Please see Section 18(c) (i).

(3)

Please see Section 18(c) (ii).

(4)

AVIC International Offshore Pte Ltd (“AIO”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into 2 management service agreements (the “Management
Agreements”) with CATICO Investments Pte Ltd (“CATICO”) on 5 July 2013 and 26 July 2013 respectively, pursuant to which management fees of an aggregate
amount of USD0.50 million and USD0.41 million respectively (before sales taxes and surcharges) (the “Management Service Fees”) are payable to AIO from CATICO.
The Management Agreements are for the service periods from 5 July 2013 to 31 December 2013 and from 26 July 2013 to 31 December 2013 respectively. The
services to be provided pursuant to such Management Agreements include marketing/sales, administration and management of shipbuilding contracts services
for 3 vessels (one unit of 85M Hybrid Design Anchor Handling Tug/Supply/Oil Recovery Vessel and two units of 86M Diesel-Electric Platform Supply/Oil Recovery
Vessels) and project management services for another 2 units of 78M Platform Supply/Oil Recovery Vessel.
The Management Agreements were entered into under the authority conferred by the general mandate for specified IPTs obtained by the Company at the
shareholder’s general meeting held on 25 April 2013 (“IPT Mandate”), and was entered into in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures for interested
person transactions as disclosed in the IPT Mandate.

(5)

For particulars on the loan, please see Section 18(a) on the SGD29,769,600 loan obtained in connection with the Intra-group Restructuring.

(6)

The Company and Kaixin Industrial Pte. Ltd. (“Kaixin SG”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a management service agreement with AVIC
International Beijing on 12 December 2013, pursuant to which the Company and Kaixin SG shall provide services such as shipping related management consultancy
services, for the business promotion, marketing, internal control, management control, technical advancement and business process improvement in relation to
the specified project(s). Management fees of USD1million and USD1.3million in total (before sales taxes and surcharges) are payable to the Company and Kaixin SG
respectively under the management service agreement.

(12)

Save as disclosed in the table above, the Company did not enter into any IPTs which require disclosure or
shareholders’ approval under SGX-ST Listing Rules regulating IPTs during the financial year ended 31 December
2013.
20. USE OF PROCEEDS RAISED FROM COMPLIANCE PLACEMENT
The Company has raised approximately S$10.6 million from its compliance placement exercise completed on
6 October 2011 (“Compliance Placement”) in relation to the placement of 53,576,000 new shares (“Placement
Shares”) at S$0.285 per Placement Share.
As at the date of the Annual Report, the Group has not started to utilise the total net proceeds of the Compliance
Placement of approximately S$10.6 million (after deducting expenses arising from the Compliance Placement).
The breakdown of the net proceeds based on the purpose of utilisation, the amount allocated and the balance
outstanding is as follows:

Purpose of utilisation

Amount Allocated
(S$ million)

Total Amount
utilised
(S$ million)

Balance
(S$ million)
8.0

Partial financing of acquisition

8.0

–

Working capital and any future acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic alliances

2.6

–

2.6

10.6

–

10.6

Total

The management agreement was entered into under the authority conferred by IPT Mandate in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures for
interested person transactions as disclosed therein.
(7)

For particulars on the service fee agreement, please refer to Section 18(c)(ii). On 2 December 2013, AVIC Kaixin (Beijing) Ship Industry Co., Ltd., (“Kaixin Beijing”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a supplemental agreement with AVIC International Beijing Co.,Ltd. (“AVIC International Beijing”). Pursuant
to such supplemental agreement, an aggregate service fee of RMB14.6million (before sales taxes and surcharges) is payable to Kaixin Beijing by AVIC International
Beijing no later than 31 December 2013. This service agreement is for the additional services provided such as transportation for delivery of 19 vessels, insurance
coverage, inspection and bargaining work performed for the completion of the nineteen (19) vessels.
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Report of The Directors
The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the group and
statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial year ended
December 31, 2013.
1

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the company in office at the date of this report are
Diao Weicheng
Wu Weidong
Li Wei
Teng Cheong Kwee
Chong Teck Sin
Alice Lai Kuen Kan
Chen Xiaohong
Xiao Zheng
Wang Puqu
Huang Guang
Sun Yan
Zou Kangning
Li Meijin
Huang Yongfeng
Wang Mingchuan
Liu Aiyi

2

3

(Resigned on March 31, 2014)
(Resigned on March 31, 2014)

Report of The Directors
6

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee of the company, consisting of all non-executive directors is chaired by Mr Chong Teck Sin
and includes Mr Teng Cheong Kwee and Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan. The Audit Committee has met five (5) times
since the last Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) to the date of this report and has reviewed the following, where
relevant, with the executive directors and/or external auditors and internal auditors of the company:
(a) the external and internal audit plans/audit reports, the scope and results of the internal audit procedures
and results of the internal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the group’s systems of internal
accounting controls;
(b) the group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

(Resigned on March 31, 2014)
(Resigned on March 31, 2014)
(Appointed on May 28, 2013)
(Appointed on May 28, 2013)
(Appointed on May 28, 2013)
(Appointed on September 10, 2013 and resigned on March 17, 2014)
(Appointed on March 31, 2014)
(Appointed on March 31, 2014)
(Appointed on March 31, 2014)
(Appointed on March 31, 2014)

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES
AND DEBENTURES
Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any
arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures in the company or any other body corporate.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The Directors of the company holding office at the end of the financial year and at January 21, 2014 had no
interests in the share capital and debentures of the company and related corporations as recorded in the
register of Directors’ shareholdings kept by the company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act.

4

DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS
Since the beginning of the financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a
benefit which is required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a
contract made by the company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which he is a
member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest except for salaries, bonuses and
other benefits as disclosed in the financial statements. Certain Directors received remuneration from related
corporations in their capacity as directors and/or executives of those related corporations.

5

SHARE OPTIONS
a) Options to take up unissued shares
During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the
Group were granted.

(c) the quarterly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results of the group
and financial position of the company and the group;
(d) the interested person transactions (if any) falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the listing manual;
(e) the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the group’s external auditors and internal
auditors; and
(f) the re-appointment of the external auditors of the group.
The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given
the resources required for it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full discretion to invite any Director
and executive officer to attend its meetings. The external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit
Committee.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for
re-appointment as external auditors of the group at the forthcoming AGM of the company.
7 AUDITORS
The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Diao Weicheng

Sun Yan

Date: April 1, 2014

b) Options exercised
During the financial year, there were no shares of the company or any corporation in the group issued by
virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.
c) Unissued shares under options
At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the
Group under options.
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Statement of Directors
In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the group and statement of financial
position and statement of changes in equity of the company set out on pages 52 to 93 are drawn up so as to give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at December 31, 2013 and of the
results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial
year ended December 31, 2013 and at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the
Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Independent Auditors’ Report
To The Members Of AVIC International Maritime Holdings Limited

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of AVIC International Maritime Holdings Limited
[formerly known as AVIC International Investments Limited (the “Company”)] and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) which
comprise the statements of financial position of the group and the company as at December 31, 2013, the statement
of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
of the group and the statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial year ended December 31,
2013 and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 52 to 93.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true
and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Diao Weicheng
Date: April 1, 2014

Sun Yan

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and
statement of changes in equity of the company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
group and of the company as at December 31, 2013 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the
group and changes in equity of the company for the year ended on that date.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company and by
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance
with the provisions of the Act.

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
Date: April 1, 2014
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Statements of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

December 31, 2013

Note

Group
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

Financial year ended December 31, 2013

Company
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

Note

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash held in trust by a third party
Pledged cash placed with a bank
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Amount due from subsidiaries
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associates
Available-for-sale investments
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

Revenue
7
7
7
8
9
10

11
12
13
14
15
16

Total assets

403,234
49,540
109,087
12,399
574,260

355,262
216,618
8,036
1,044
2,909
583,869

6,683
165
7,507
14,355

2,912
162
11,599
14,673

7,594
120,891
96,164
1,060
55
557
226,321

3,551
3,551

52
407,854
407,906

101
433,130
433,231

800,581

587,420

422,261

447,904

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term loan
Trade payables
Advance received
Other payables and accruals
Current portion of finance leases
Income tax payable
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loan
Finance leases
Deferred tax liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Capital reserve
Statutory reserve
Translation reserve
Accumulated profits (losses)
Equity attributable to owners of the company
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

24

Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other operating income

25

Marketing and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

21,641
30,187
23,291
14,513
89,632

66,990
18,221
85,211

21,641
8,855
30,496

17
21
16

309,552
838
26,127
336,517

336,668
336,668

291,032
291,032

336,668
336,668

22
23
23
23

101,237
12,470
10,209
21,231
42,868
188,015
54,508
242,523

101,237
10,257
8,094
(1,331)
42,863
161,120
161,120

101,237
10,603
(2,782)
(63,040)
46,018
46,018

101,237
10,257
(944)
(29,810)
80,740
80,740

800,581

587,420

422,261

447,904

Total liabilities and equity
See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(403,027)

(92,465)

198,279

47,133

4,264

2,948

(27,061)

(11,872)

(112,819)

(21,919)

(25,975)

-

15

(2,173)

-

Finance costs

26

(13,304)

(3,048)

21,211

13,242

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

27

(15,258)

(5,445)

Profit for the year

28

5,953

7,797

22,545

739

28,498

8,536

Owners of the company

2,120

7,797

Non-controlling interests

3,833

-

5,953

7,797

Owners of the company

24,682

8,536

Non-controlling interests

3,816

-

28,498

8,536

0.74

2.73

Other comprehensive income:
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations,

Total comprehensive income for the year
66,990
30,243
39,103
77,351
1,018
6,836
221,541

2012
RMB’000
(Restated)
139,598

Share of loss of associates

representing other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

17
18
19
20
21

2013
RMB’000
601,306

Profit attributable to:

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)

29

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity

Financial year ended December 31, 2013
Share capital
RMB’000

Capital
reserve
RMB’000

Statutory
reserve
RMB’000

Translation
reserve
RMB’000

Accumulated
profits/
(losses)
RMB’000

Attributable to
equity owner of
the company
RMB’000

Noncontrolling
interests
RMB’000

Total
equity
RMB’000

101,237

-

6,489

(2,070)

36,671

142,327

-

142,327

-

-

-

739
739

7,797
7,797

7,797
739
8,536

-

7,797
739
8,536

101,237

10,257
10,257
10,257

1,605
8,094

(1,331)

(1,605)
42,863

10,257
10,257
161,120

-

10,257
10,257
161,120

-

-

-

22,562
22,562

2,120
2,120

2,120
22,562
24,682

3,833
(17)
3,816

5,953
22,545
28,498

101,237

2,213
2,213
12,470

2,115
10,209

21,231

(2,115)
42,868

2,213
2,213
188,015

50,692
50,692
54,508

2,213
50,692
52,905
242,523

Group
Balance as at January 1, 2012
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total
Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity
Deemed contribution by the shareholder on the shareholder’s loan (Note 17(1)(i))
Total
Transfer to statutory reserve
Balance as at December 31, 2012
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total
Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity
Deemed contribution by the shareholder on the shareholder’s loan (Note 17(1)(ii)(iii))
Non-controlling interest arising from acquisition of subsidiary
Total
Transfer to statutory reserve
Balance as at December 31, 2013

Share capital
RMB’000

Capital
reserve
RMB’000

Translation
reserve
RMB’000

Accumulated
profits/(losses)
RMB’000

Total
equity
RMB’000

101,237

-

(2,462)

(20,536)

78,239

-

-

1,518
1,518

(9,274)
(9,274)

(9,274)
1,518
(7,756)

101,237

10,257
10,257
10,257

(944)

(29,810)

10,257
10,257
80,740

-

-

(1,838)
(1,838)

(33,230)
(33,230)

(33,230)
(1,838)
(35,068)

101,237

346
346
10,603

(2,782)

(63,040)

346
346
46,018

Company
Balance as at January 1, 2012
Total comprehensive income for the year
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total
Transactions with owners’ recognised directly in equity
Deemed contribution by the shareholder on the shareholder’s loan (Note 17(1)(i))
Total
Balance as at December 31, 2012
Total comprehensive income for the year
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total
Transactions with owners’ recognised directly in equity
Deemed contribution by the shareholder on the shareholder’s loan (Note 17(1)(ii))
Total
Balance as at December 31, 2013
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Financial year ended December 31, 2013

December 31, 2013
2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

21,211

13,242

2,173
3,912
3,712
218
1,043
(2,351)
11,571
21,549
(189)
84
62,933

1,344
32
(898)
2,910
(1,518)
15,112

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Trade payables
Advance received
Other payables and accruals
Cash generated from operations

(42,645)
3,842
(27,768)
15,812
31,798
43,972

10,021
(534)
30,187
23,291
6,952
85,029

Income tax paid
Interest received
Net cash from operating activities

(9,109)
2,351
37,214

(19,114)
898
66,813

Investing activities
Cash held in trust for acquisition (Note 30)
Purchase of plant and equipment (Note A)
Proceeds from disposal of Available-for-sale assets
Net cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 30)
Addition to intangible assets
Net cash from (used in) investing activities

(3,596)
461
44,346
(1,653)
39,558

(216,618)
(356)
(216,974)

Financing activities
Proceeds from shareholder’s loan
Interest paid
Repayment from other receivable
New loans raised
Repayment of term loan
Increase in pledged cash placed with a bank
Net cash (used in) from financing activities

43,238
(6,439)
200
(21,857)
(41,504)
(26,362)

151,204
(1,397)
20,000
218,269
(20,000)
(8,036)
360,040

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

50,410
355,262
(2,438)
403,234

209,879
145,196
187
355,262

Operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Share of loss of associates
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Plant and equipment written off
Bad debt written off
Interest income
Interest expenses
Net foreign exchange loss (gain)
Gain on disposal of available for sales investments
Fair value change of derivative financial instruments
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Note A:
The group acquired plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of RMB3,849,000 (2012: RMB356,000), of which
RMB253,000 (2012: RMBNil), were acquired by means of finance leases, and cash payment made amounted to
RMB3,596,000 (2012: RMB356,000)
See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1

GENERAL
The company (Registration No. 201024137N) is incorporated in Singapore on November 11, 2010 with its
registered office at 10 Collyer Quay, #27-00 Ocean Financial Centre, Singapore 049315 and principal place
of business at 24th Floor, North Star Times Tower, No. 8 Beichendong Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100101,
the People’s Republic of China. The company is listed on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“SGX-ST”). The financial statements are expressed in Chinese renminbi.
With effect from May 2, 2013, the company has changed from the name of AVIC International
Investments Limited to AVIC International Maritime Holdings Limited.
The principal activity of the company is that of investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are described in Note 14 to the financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and
statement of changes in equity of the company for the year ended December 31, 2013 were authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on April 1, 2014.

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis,
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or
a liability, the group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants
would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of FRS 102, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of FRS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 or value in use in FRS 36.
ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On January 1, 2013, the group adopted all the new and revised
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations.
The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the group’s and company’s
accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years except
as disclosed below:
FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement
The group has applied FRS 113 for the first time in the current year. FRS 113 establishes a single source of
guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The fair value
measurement requirements of FRS 113 apply to both financial instrument items and non-financial assets for
which other FRSs require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net realisable value for the purposes of measuring inventories or value
in use for impairment assessment purposes).
FRS 113 includes extensive disclosure requirements, although specific transitional provisions were given to
entities such that they need not apply the disclosure requirements set out in the FRS in comparative
information provided for periods before the initial application of the FRS. Consequently the group has not
made any new disclosures required by FRS 113 for the comparative period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

The application of FRS 113 has not had any material impact on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment in net
recoverable value that has been recognised in the profit or loss.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS
that are relevant to the group and the company were issued but not effective:

BUSINESS COMBINATION - Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of assets
given, liabilities incurred by the group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the
group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Q
Q
Q
Q
Q
Q

FRS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements
FRS 28 (Revised) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements
FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRS, INT FRS and amendments to FRS in future
periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the group and of the company on the
period of their initial adoption.
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
company and entities controlled by the company. Control is achieved when the company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair
values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments
(see below). The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, or FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate,
with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity
are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the group attains control) and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the group.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Q

deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

Q

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the
replace of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based payment awards
transactions of the acquirer in accordance with the method in FRS 102 Share-based Payment at the
Acquisition Date; and

Q

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non- current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s equity therein. The interest of
non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured (at date of original business
combination) either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of
subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Changes in the group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the company.
When the group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings)
in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly
controlled entity.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised as of that date.
The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the group obtains complete
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subjected to a
maximum of one year from acquisition date. The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling
interests is described above.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group’s statement of
financial position when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Effective interest method

Derecognition of financial assets

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and
of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payment (including all fees on points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transactions costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and
expense are recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial
instruments at “fair value through profit or loss”.

The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another entity. If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial assets

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an
investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except
for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets “at fair value through
profit or loss”, “held-to-maturity investments”, “available-for-sale financial assets” and “loans and receivables”.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. The group does not have financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and held-tomaturity investments.
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivable, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Trade and other receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by
applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest
would be immaterial.

Classification as debt or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an
effective yield basis.
Interest-bearing loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the
group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below).

Available-for-sale financial assets
Certain shares and debt securities held by the group are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated
at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method
and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in profit or loss.
Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the group’s right to
receive payments is established. The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign
currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at end of the reporting period.
The change in fair value attributable to translation differences that result from a change in amortised cost of
the asset is recognised in profit or loss, and other changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS – Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably,
revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end
of the reporting period, as measured by reference to the physical proportion of the contract work completed
as determined by a qualified engineer’s estimates.
Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are probably recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
The carr ying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial
assets with the exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
The group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the group at their fair value at the inception of
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the
lessor is included in the balance sheet/statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to
profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see below). Contingent rentals are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
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Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, on the following bases:
Number of years
Office equipment
3
Computer
3
Motor vehicles
5
Renovation
3
Furniture and fixtures
3
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation (where they have
finite useful lives) and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised. Each
period, the useful lives of such assets are reviewed to determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support an indefinite useful life assessment for the asset. Such assets are tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy below.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill.
The cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
acquired separately.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall
be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

The intangible assets have finite useful lives except for branding, over which the assets are amortised. The
amortisation period for technical knowhow is 15 years. Ship design engineering software licenses are
amortised over their estimated useful lives, which is on average 5 years.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the end of each reporting
period, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the book of accounts until they are no longer in use.
GOODWILL - Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is
acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed.
If, after reassessment, the group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
ASSOCIATES - An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
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The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the
equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is
accounted for under FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the
equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet/statement of financial
position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of the net assets of the associate,
less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses of an associate in excess of the group’s
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s
net investment in the associate) are not recognised, unless the group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

assessed on the basis of the actual working hours performed as a proportion of the total working hours to be
performed. Revenue from cost plus contracts is recognised in the period the work is performed based on time
and material used.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment
as part of the investment. Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the group’s interest in the relevant associate.
GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. The benefits of
a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
Government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the balance sheet/statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related costs.
Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs
for which they are intended to compensate on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
REVENUE - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for sale of goods
and rendering of services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.
Shipbuilding revenue
Revenue from shipbuilding contracts is recognised based on the percentage of completion method. The
percentage of completion is measured by reference to the percentage of the physical proportion of the
contract work completed as determined by a qualified engineer’s estimates.
Service fee income
Service fee income generated from the provision of project management and consultancy services relating
to shipbuilding, which cover ship design and construction (both of which are outsourced to third parties),
procurement, new building management and marine finance is recognised by reference to the stage of
completion in accordance with the following milestones: (i) contract being effective; (ii) steel cutting; (iii) keel
laying; (iv) launching; and (v) delivery of vessel. The percentage of completion is computed by using time
proportion method, taking into consideration the milestones mentioned above.
Management service fee
Management service fee is recognised when services are rendered which include management and
services rendered with respect to marketing and consulting activities.
Ship design fee income
Ship design fee income generated from consulting, design and engineering services to marine and offshore
industries. The group has two main kinds of contract types: fixed price contracts and cost plus contracts.
Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised by reference to the percentage of completion which is

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Other income – steel trading
Income from steel trading is recognised upon the transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods to the buyer.
Interest income
Interest income from a financial institution is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as
an expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where the group’s
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the PRC subsidiary of the group (the “PRC
Subsidiary”) has participated in central pension schemes (“the Schemes”) operated by local municipal
governments whereby the PRC Subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic
salaries of their employees to the Schemes to fund their retirement benefits. The local municipal governments
undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired employees of the PRC
Subsidiary. The only obligation of the PRC subsidiary with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the Schemes mentioned above. Contributions under the Schemes are charged as expenses
when incurred.
INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted in countries where the company and subsidiaries operate by the end of each reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted
for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and associates, except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflect the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate
to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity),
in which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination.
In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or
determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over cost.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents in the
statement of cash flows comprise cash held at banks and demand deposits that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies
Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Revenue recognition
1)

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each group
entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement
of financial position of the company are presented in Chinese renminbi (“RMB”). The functional currency of
the company is Singapore dollar (“SGD”). The management believes that RMB will be better reflecting the
underlying transactions and balances the group has.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised other comprehensive
income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income.
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the company
(including comparatives) are expressed in RMB using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as other
comprehensive income and transferred to the group’s translation reserve.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of
translation reserve.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

Service fee income
The group recognises service fee income by reference to the stage of completion in accordance with the
following milestones (i) contract being effective; (ii) steel cutting; (iii) keel laying; (iv) launching; and (v)
delivery of vessel. The percentage of completion is computed by using time proportion method, taking
into consideration the milestones as mentioned above. Significant judgement is required in estimating the
period of time from the date of contract being effective to the date of delivery of vessel which affects the
service fee income recognised to-date based on the percentage of completion. In making its judgement,
the group relies on past experience and the work of specialists. Revenue from service fee contracts is
disclosed in Note 24.

2)

Shipbuilding income
The group recognises shipbuilding income based on the percentage of completion method. The stage of
completion is measured in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2. Significant assumptions
are required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the contract cost incurred, the estimated
total contract revenue and contract cost and the recoverability of the contracts. In making the assumption,
the group evaluates by relying on past experience and the work of engineers. Revenue from shipbuilding
contracts is disclosed in Note 24.

3)

Ship design fee income
The group uses the percentage-of-completion method in accounting for its fixed price contracts to deliver
design services use of percentage-of-completion method requires the group to estimate the services
performed to date as a proportion of the total services to be performed.
The fixed price contracts may include revenue streams from designing work and licensing agreements.
Revenue for licensing service is recognised when the amount of revenue can be estimated reliably and
the inflow of economic benefit is probable managed uses judgement in determining when revenue
recognition criteria are fulfilled. The management evaluates reliability and probability of the revenue by
considering its past experience (sufficient evidence of similar agreements), historic trends and factors
specific to the structure, geographical location, historical reputation and existence of the time chartering
agreement. Revenue from total ship design fees contracts is disclosed in Note 24.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)
Income taxes
(a) Tax currently payable
The group has exposure to income taxes mainly in the People’s Republic of China and Finland. Significant
judgement is involved in determining the group’s provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions
and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates on whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recognised, such differences will impact the income tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made. The carrying amount of the group’s income tax payable at December 31, 2013 is RMB6,836,000 (2012
: Nil) and income tax recoverable at December 31, 2013 is RMBNil (2012: RMB744,000).

Notes to Financial Statements
4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(a) Categories of financial instruments
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:
Group
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000
Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including
cash and cash equivalents)
Available-for-sale financial assets

(b) Deferred tax
The group reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax at the end of each reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences can be utilised or there is future
taxable profit available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. This involves judgement
regarding the future performance and tax laws. The carrying amounts of the deferred tax assets and
liabilities are disclosed in Note 16.
Impairment of goodwill

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

Company
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

567,647
55
567,702

582,963
582,963

14,190
14,190

14,511
14,511

464,586

403,009

376,243

367,164

(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives
The management of the group monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of
the group to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner. These risks
include market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit and liquidity risk.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present
value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was RMB120.89million as disclosed in
Note 12. No impairment loss was recognised during the financial year.

There has been no change to the group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.

Impairment of intangible assets

(i) Foreign exchange risk management

During the financial year ended December 31, 2013, management has performed impairment assessment on the
recoverable amount of its intangible assets.
(a) The group has amortised the ship design engineering software licenses and technical knowhow with a
charge amounting to RMB3,712,000 in 2013 in accordance to their useful lives.
(b) Branding is not expected to cease bringing economic benefits to the group and registration of the brand
name is expected continuously renewed. Therefore, management is of the view that the useful economic
life of the branding is estimated to be indefinite.
Management is confident that the carrying amount of the remaining intangible assets as at December 31,
2013 will be recovered in full. However, this situation will be closely monitored, and adjustments will be made in
future periods, if future market activity indicates that such adjustments are appropriate. The carrying amount of
intangible assets is disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

The group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Foreign currency risk occurs as a result of the group’s transactions that are not denominated in the
entities’ respective functional currencies. These transactions arise from the group’s ordinary course of
business. The group transacts business in various currencies and the most significant currency exposure
is in United States dollars, Singapore dollars and Euro.
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and monetary
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective entities’ functional currencies are as follows:

United States dollars
Singapore dollars
Euro

Group
Company
Liabilities
Assets
Liabilities
Assets
2013
2012
2013
2012
2013
2012
2013
2012
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
658 142,345 153,170 162,745
658 142,345
6,125
14
290
853
810
223,565 216,602
1,362
265 223,565 216,602
301
256

Foreign currency sensitivity
The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the relevant foreign
currencies against the functional currency of each group entity. 10% is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

4

(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
(i) Foreign exchange risk management (cont’d)
If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity,
profit or loss and other equity will increase (decrease) by:
United States
dollar impact
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

Singapore
dollar impact
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

Euro
impact
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

Group
Profit or loss

(15,251)

(2,040)

(85)

(52)

22,220

21,634

Company
Profit or loss

(547)

14,233

-

-

22,326

21,634

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity, profit or loss and other equity will increase (decrease) by:
United States
dollar impact
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

Singapore
dollar impact
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

Euro
impact
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

Group
Profit or loss

15,251

2,040

85

52

(22,220)

(21,634)

Company
Profit or loss

547

(14,233)

-

-

(22,326)

(21,634)

(ii) Interest rate risk management
The group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the group’s fixed deposits with banks
and debt obligations. The group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its risks and the
details of the group’s interest rate exposure is disclosed in Notes 7 and 17 to the financial statements.
No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the banks and debt obligations are at fixed interest rates.
(iii) Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the group.
The group’s revenue is generated from the group’s largest customers as disclosed in Note 31. The group
has established credit limits for customers and monitors their balances.

Liquidity and interest risk analyses
Non-derivative financial liabilities
The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities. The
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the group and company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable
to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the
financial liability on the statement of financial position.
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

On
demand
or within
1 year
RMB’000

Within
2 to
5 years
RMB’000

2.98
3.10

86,188
1,049
68,870

888
330,603

(81)
(22,931)

86,188
1,856
376,542
464,586

2012
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate instrument

3.10

44,700
28,133

363,488

(33,312)

Company
2013
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate instrument

44,700
358,309
403,009

3.10

18,221
68,870

310,277

(21,125)

18,221
358,022
376,243

2012
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate instrument

3.10

8,855
28,133

363,488

(33,312)

8,855
358,309
367,164

Group
2013
Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liability (fixed rate)
Fixed interest rate instrument

(iv) Liquidity risk management
The group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance
their activities. The group finances its liquidity needs through internally generated cash flows and
external financing, and minimises liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines available.
The company is also dependent on the immediate holding company for financial support and
management is satisfied that financial support will continue to be available as and when required from
its immediate holding company and its immediate holding company has undertaken not to seek loan
repayment from the company until the company has repaid all external loans and other debts.

Total
RMB’000

The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. The inclusion
of information on non-derivative financial assets is necessary in order to understand the group’s
liquidity risk management as the group’s liquidity risk is managed on a net asset and liability basis. The
tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial
assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the group and the company
anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period. The adjustment column represents the
possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which are not
included in the carrying amount of the financial asset on the statement of financial position.

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivable and other receivable as disclosed
in Notes 8 and 9. Cash is held with creditworthy financial institutions and held in trust by a third party.
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, represents the group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk.

Adjustment
RMB’000

Group
2013
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate instrument
2013
Non-interest bearing

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

On
demand
or within
1 year
RMB’000

Within
2 to
5 years
RMB’000

3.25

547,702
10,325

10,975

(1,300)

547,702
20,000
567,702

-

14,190

-

-

14,190
14,190

Adjustment
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

In 2012, the non-derivative financial assets of the group and company are due on demand or within
the next one year.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

6

(v) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Some of the company’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the
basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables and payables approximate
their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.
The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to
the financial statements.

Compensation of directors and key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the period was as follows:

(c) Capital risk management policies and objectives

Group

The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance, and to ensure that all externally imposed capital requirements are complied with.
The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 17,
cash and bank balances disclosed in Note 7, and equity attributable to equity holders of the company,
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. One of the subsidiaries of the company is
required to set aside a minimum amount of 10% of profits annually. Such profits are accumulated in a
separate reserve called “Statutory Reserves” (Note 23). The statutory reserves may only be distributed to
shareholders upon liquidation of the subsidiary.

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

6,095
265

4,998
269

The remuneration of directors and executive officers of the company is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
7

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2012.
5

Group

HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS
The company is a subsidiary of AVIC International Kairong Limited (“AVIC Kairong”), incorporated in Hong Kong.
The ultimate holding company is Aviation Industry Corporation of China, incorporated in the People’s Republic
of China. The intermediate holding company is AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd, incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China. Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the ultimate holding
company’s group of companies.
Some of the company’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of
these on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The intercompany
balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.
Significant transactions with related companies
Group

Service fee income from:
an intermediate holding company(1)
a related company(1)
Management fee income from:
an intermediate holding company(1)
related companies(1)
Ship design fee income from:
an immediate holding company(1)
a related company(1)
Other income from a related company(1)
Interest expenses payable to an immediate holding company
(1)

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

27,308
464

20,186
8,829

14,448
9,006

12,000

1,610
510
4,682
(1,252)

(361)

The amounts of the transaction are before deduction of sales taxes and surcharges.

Cash at bank
Fixed deposits
Cash held in trust by a third party
Pledged cash placed with a bank
Less:
Cash held in trust by a third party
Pledged cash placed with a bank
Cash and cash equivalents in
statement of cash flows

Company

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

383,234
20,000
49,540
452,774

355,262
216,618
8,036
579,916

6,683
6,683

2,912
2,912

(49,540)

(216,618)
(8,036)

-

-

403,234

355,262

6,683

2,912

Cash and bank balances mainly comprise cash held at bank, pledged bank deposits and cash held in trust by
third party. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair values.
Fixed deposits bore an average interest rate of 3.25% per annum for tenures of 1 to 3 years. Insignificant cost will
be incurred if the fixed deposits are withdrawn before maturity.
Cash amounting to RMB49,540,000 (2012: RMB8,036,000) is pledged by the group as collateral for letters of
credit.
In 2012, cash held in trust by third party represented RMB216,618,000 held in trust by one of the indirect
subsidiary’s company lawyer’s client fund account for the purpose of completing a proposed acquisition of
an overseas business. Subsequent to December 31, 2012, the amount was paid out for the completion of the
proposed acquisition (Note 30).

In 2012, the company and AVIC Kairong (an immediate holding company) entered into a deed of
assignment (the “Assignment”), pursuant to which the rights, benefits and obligations of AVIC Kairong under a facility
agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) with Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited (the “Bank”)
in connection with a term loan for a principal sum of Euro 26,000,000 was assigned to the company. The term
loan bears an interest at the rate of 3.0% per annum and is for a term of three years (Note 17(2)). Under the
Assignment, the company also agreed to pay the Bank such amounts which may be chargeable by the
Bank on the terms and conditions as set out under the Facility Agreement. No payment shall be made by the
company to AVIC Kairong in connection with the Assignment or the Facility Agreement. The first loan
principal repayment amounting to Euro 2,600,000 (equivalent to RMB21,657,000) and total interest of
Euro 790,833 (equivalent to RMB6,439,000) was made during the year.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES

9

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group

Trade receivables from third parties
related companies (Note 5)
Amount due from the customer on construction contract

Group

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

68,845
9,126
77,971
31,116
109,087

1,044
1,044

The carrying values of trade receivables approximate their fair values. The average credit period is approximately
90 days (2012 : Nil). No interest is charged on the outstanding trade receivables. Allowance for doubtful debts
are recognised against trade receivables based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from rendering of services,
determined by reference to individual customer’s credit quality. In determining the recoverability of trade
receivables the group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date
credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. There is concentration risk due to trade
receivables from related companies amounting to RMB9,126,000 and receivables from the group’s 3 largest
customers amounting to RMB35,633,000. There are no other external customers who individually represent
more than 10% of the total balance of trade receivables.
In 2013, trade receivables from related parties were not past due and not impaired.

Amount due from
associates (Note 15)
an intermediate holding company (Note 5)
Deposits
Prepayments
Staff advance
Tax recoverable
Others
Total

856
579
2,105
6,613
99
2,147
12,399

1,671
162
744
332
2,909

Company
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000
165
165

162
162

10 AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES
The amount due from subsidiaries denominated in functional currency of the company are non-trade
related, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
11 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group
2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

49,376

-

6,442
18,886
3,267
77,971

-

Amounts due from the customer on construction contract:
Group

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits
Less: Progress Billings

2012
RMB’000

The group’s other receivables are interest-free, repayable on demand and unsecured. The group has not made
any provision as management is of the view that these receivables are recoverable and not impaired and recoverable.

The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at the end of each reporting period:

Not past due and not impaired(1)
Past due and not impaired(2)
< 1 month
1 month to 3 months
> 3 months
Total

2013
RMB’000

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

261,830
(230,714)
31,116

133,770
(132,726)
1,044

At December 31, 2013, advances received from the customer for contract work amounted to RMBNil (2012 :
RMB31,509,000).
(1)

Management considers trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be of good credit
quality.

(2)

There has not been a significant change in credit quality and amounts are still considered recoverable.

Group
Cost:
At January 1, 2012
Additions
Write-off
Exchange realignments
At December 31, 2012
Additions
Arising from acquisition of
a subsidiary (Note 30)
Write-off
Exchange realignments
At December 31, 2013
Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2012
Depreciation
Write-off
Exchange realignments
At December 31, 2012
Depreciation
Arising from acquisition of
a subsidiary (Note 30)
Write-off
Exchange realignments
At December 31, 2013
Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2013
At December 31, 2012

Office
equipment
RMB’000

Computer
RMB’000

Motor
Furniture
vehicles Renovation and fixtures
RMB’000
RMB’000
RMB’000

56
3
59
50

101
140
(42)
6
205
3,175

2,239
118
2,357
-

2,242
200
120
2,562
624

16
16
-

4,638
356
(42)
247
5,199
3,849

(4)
105

6,927
(444)
162
10,025

(150)
2,207

653
(169)
(135)
3,535

(1)
15

7,580
(613)
(128)
15,887

5
19
1
25
34

5
66
(10)
61
2,458

74
462
14
550
454

190
796
25
1,011
961

1
1
5

274
1,344
(10)
40
1,648
3,912

(2)
57

2,700
(304)
88
5,003

(48)
956

467
(91)
(77)
2,271

6

3,167
(395)
(39)
8,293

48
34

5,022
144

1,251
1,807

1,264
1,551

9
15

7,594
3,551

Total
RMB’000

The carrying amount of the group’s plant and equipment includes an amount of RMB1,825,076 (2012 : RMBNil)
secured in respect of assets held under finance leases.
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11 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Company
Cost:
At 1 January 2012
Additions
At December 31, 2012
Exchange realignments
At December 31, 2013
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2012
Additions
At December 31, 2012
Additions
Exchange realignments
At December 31, 2013
Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2013
At December 31, 2012

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

130
4
134
(8)
126

130
4
134
(8)
126

30
3
33
44
(3)
74

30
3
33
44
(3)
74

52
101

52
101

12 GOODWILL
Group
RMB’000
Cost and carrying amount:
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary
and balance at December 31, 2013 (Note 30)

Group

Cost:
Additions arising from acquisition
of a subsidiary (Note 30)
Additions
Write-off
Exchange realignment
At December 31, 2013
Amortisation:
Additions arising from acquisition
of a subsidiary (Note 30)
Amortisation for the year
Write-off
Exchange realignment
At December 31, 2013
Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2013

Branding
RMB’000

Technical
knowhow
RMB’000

Ship design
engineering
software licenses
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

55,175
55,175

40,651
40,651

8,681
1,653
(836)
154
9,652

104,507
1,653
(836)
154
105,478

-

2,659
2,659

6,290
1,053
(836)
148
6,655

6,290
3,712
(836)
148
9,314

55,175

37,992

2,997

96,164

Branding and technical knowhow are arising from acquisition of Deltamarin Oy (Note 30). The cost of these
intangibles was based on a purchase price allocation report by a professional valuer.

120,891

The intangible assets included above have finite useful lives except for branding, over which the assets are
amortised. The amortisation period for technical knowhow is 15 years. Ship design engineering software
licenses are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which is on average 5 years.

The group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might
be impaired.

The group tests branding annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that branding
might be impaired.

The goodwill has been allocated to Deltamarin Oy (“CGU”) which is under ship design service.

The recoverable amounts of the branding are determined as part of the overall value in use calculations of
the CGU allocated to Deltamarin Oy. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding
the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the branding. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts.
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in
the market.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for
the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to
selling prices and direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth
rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past
practices and expectations of future changes in the market.
The group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets for CGU approved by
management for the next five years based on an estimated revenue growth rate of 14.4% and terminal growth rate of
3.5% for period beyond 5 years.

The group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets for CGU approved by
management for the next five years based on an estimated revenue growth rate of 14.4% and terminal growth
rate of 3.5% for period beyond 5 years.
The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the CGU is 12.59% per annum.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the CGU is 12.59% per annum.
As at December 31, 2013, any reasonably possible change to the key assumptions applied not likely to cause the
recoverable amounts to be below the carrying amounts of the CGU.

As at December 31, 2013, any reasonably possible change to the key assumptions applied not likely to cause
the recoverable amounts of CGU to be below its carrying amounts. Therefore, management is of the view that
there is no indications that branding might be impaired as at 31 December 2013.
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14 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

14 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
Group
2013
RMB’000
407,854

Unquoted shares, at cost

2012
RMB’000
433,130

Details of the company’s subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 are as follows:
Country of
incorporation Proportion
of ownership
and
interest % Principal activities
operation

Name of subsidiaries
Kaixin Industrial Pte. Ltd.(1)

Singapore

2013
100

2012
100 Ship-trading and
shipbuilding
businesses

AVIC International Ship Development Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

100

100 Trading, ship-trading
agency and
shipbuilding related
businesses

AVIC Ship Investments Limited(3)

Hong Kong

100

100 Investment holding

AVIC International Ship Engineering Pte. Ltd.(1)

Singapore

100

100 Design and marine
engineering,
project management
and consultancy

PRC

100

100 Ship-trading agency
and import and
export business

(1)

Subsidiary of Kaixin Industrial Pte. Ltd.
AVIC Kaixin (Beijing) Ship Industry Co., Ltd.(3)

Subsidiary of AVIC International Ship Development Pte. Ltd.
AVIC International Offshore Pte. Ltd.(1)

Singapore

100

100 Ship-trading agency
and shipbuilding
related business

AVIC International Ship Development (China) Co., Ltd.(3)

PRC

100

100 Ship-trading related
business

AVIC International Ship Development (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.(3) (6)

PRC

100

-

Ship-trading import
and export business

Singapore

100

-

Wholesale, import and
export, commission
agency of ship/ marine
engineering equipment/
marine equipment and
material and accessories

Subsidiary of AVIC International Offshore Pte. Ltd.
AVIC International Offshore (Xiamen) Co., Ltd.(3)

Subsidiary of AVIC International Ship Engineering Pte. Ltd.
AVIC International Marine Engineering (“AIME”)(1)

Singapore

79.57(8)

Subsidiary of AVIC International Marine Engineering Pte. Ltd.
AVIC International Marine Engineering (Lux)(2) (8)
Luxembourg 79.57(8)

100 Design and marine
engineering, project
management and
consultancy

Name of subsidiaries

Country of
incorporation Proportion
of ownership
and
interest % Principal activities
operation
2013

2012

Subsidiary of AVIC International Marine Engineering (Lux)
Deltamarin Oy.(4) (7)

Finland

79.57

-

Subsidiary of Deltamarin Oy
Deltamarin-Eesti.Oü(5) (7)

Provision of design,
engineering and
contracting services
for offshore, shipping,
shipbuilding naval
and marine industries

Estonia

79.57

-

Under liquidation

Brazil

79.57

-

Consulting and construction
engineering services for
shipping, offshore, oil,
gas and other mineral
resources, information
technology and software
design

Finland

79.57

-

Building, construction and
financing of office
premises, buying, selling,
managing and renting
of office premises and
real estate

PRC

79.57

-

Consulting services for
ocean engineering/
supply chain/
environmental/energy/
lifecycle management,
investment information
consulting and
technical services

Poland

79.57

-

Design and marine
engineering, project
management and
consultancy

Deltamarin Brasil Consultoria e Projetos Ltda(5) (7)

Kiinteistö Oy Pilottitie(5) (7)

Deltamarin China Co., Ltd.(5) (7)

Deltamarin Sp.z o.o.(5) (7)

(1)

Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

(2)

Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore for consolidation purpose.

(3)

Audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Hong Kong for consolidation purpose.

(4)

Audited by Deloitte & Touche Oy, Finland.

(5)

Audited by Deloitte & Touche Oy, Finland for consolidation purposes.

(6)

Incorporated in 2013.

(7)

Acquired in 2013.

(8)

The reduction in ownership interest in subsidiary is due to the allotment and issuance of an aggregate of 950 new shares of AIME as share consideration
(amounting to 20.43% of the enlarged issued share capital of AIME) to the non-controlling shareholders of Deltamarin Oy amounting to an aggregate issue
price of Euro 6,129,000 (RMB50,691,000).

100 Design and marine
engineering, project
management and
consultancy
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15 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

16 DEFERRED TAX (cont’d)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and (assets) recognised by the group and the movements
during the year:

Group
2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

3,233
(2,173)
1,060

-

Cost of investment in associates
Share of post-acquisition profit, net of dividend received

Details of the group’s significant associates at December 31, 2013 are as follows:

Name of associate

GPS Deltamarin (M) Sdn Bhd*
V. Delta Limited *
Shandong Deltamarin Marine Engineering
Co., Ltd *
Brodoplan d.o.o. *

Place of
incorporation
and operation
Malaysia
Monaco
PRC
Croatia

Proportion of
ownership
interest
2013
2012
%
%
49
50
50
50

-

Proportion
of voting
power held

Principal
activity

2013

2012

38.99
39.79

-

Shipping
Shipping

39.79
39.79

-

Shipping
Shipping

*Audited by Deloitte & Touche Oy for consolidation purposes.

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s associates is set out below:

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Group’s share of associates’ net assets

Revenue
Loss for the year
Group’s share of associates’ loss for the year

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

6,934
(5,060)
1,874
1,060

-

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

14,330
(4,374)
(2,173)

-

16 DEFERRED TAX
Group

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

26,127
(557)
25,570

-

Group

At January 1, 2013
Arising from acquisition
of a subsidiary (Note 30)
(Credit) charge to profit or
loss (Note 27)
At December 31, 2013

Fair value
adjustment
on business
combination
RMB’000
-

Accrued
revenue
RMB’000
-

Others
RMB’000
-

Total
RMB’000
-

23,573

2,314

(244)

25,643

(720)
22,853

960
3,274

(313)
(557)

(73)
25,570

17 LONG TERM LOAN
Group
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000
Shareholder’s loan
- Loan A(i)
- Loan B(ii)
- Loan C(iii)
Term loan (Note 5)
Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months (shown under current liabilities)
Amount due for settlement
after 12 months

Company
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000

137,890
23,235
18,520
179,645
196,897
376,542

141,903
141,903
216,406
358,309

137,890
23,235
161,125
196,897
358,022

141,903
141,903
216,406
358,309

(66,990)

(21,641)

(66,990)

(21,641)

309,552

336,668

291,032

336,668

(1) Shareholder’s loan
(i) In 2012, the company was granted a shareholder’s loan amounting to US$24,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB151,204,000) from an immediate holding company, AVIC Kairong with a loan tenure of three years
(mature on 27 August 2015 ). On 8 April 2013, the company and AVIC Kairong entered into a
supplementary agreement, pursuant to which the company will repay the principal loan amount at
SGD29,769,600 (equivalent to RMB143,442,000) based on exchange rate of 1.2404 against USD. With
effect from April 1, 2013, the principal interest will remain unchange at 0.85% per annum and will be
payable based on principal amount of SGD29,769,600 instead.
FRS 39 Financial Instrument : Recognition and Measurement requires certain categories of financial
assets and liabilities to be measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Accordingly, the shareholder’s loan amounting to
RMB143,442,000 (2012 : RMB151,204,000) is carried at amortised cost of RMB137,890,000 (2012 : RMB141,903,000)
as at December 31, 2013, based on a market prime rate of 3.25% (2012 : 3.25%) per annum.
The excess of nominal value over fair value of the shareholder’s loan amounting to RMB10,257,000
(2012: RMB10,257,000) has been recorded in capital reserve. The corresponding interest expenses
adjustment of RMB3,749,000 (2012 : RMB956,000) has been taken to profit or loss as deemed interest
expense charged by an immediate holding company.
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18 TRADE PAYABLES

Group

(ii) On December 20, 2013, the company was granted a shareholder’s loan amounting to Euro 2,800,000
(equivalent to RMB23,561,000) from an immediate holding company, AVIC Kairong with a loan tenure
of six months. The loan is interest-free, unsecured and repayable on June 20, 2014.
FRS 39 Financial Instrument : Recognition and Measurement requires certain categories of financial
assets and liabilities to be measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Accordingly, the shareholder’s loan amounting to RMB23,561,000
(2012 : RMBNil) is carried at amortised cost of RMB23,235,000 (2012 : RMBNil) as at December 31, 2013,
based on a market prime rate of 3% (2012 : Nil%) per annum. The excess of nominal value over fair
value of the shareholder’s loan amounting to RMB346,000 (2012: RMBNil) has been recorded in capital
reserve. The corresponding interest expenses adjustment of RMB20,000 (2012 : RMBNil) has been taken
to profit or loss as deemed interest expense charged by an immediate holding company.
(iii) On March 20, 2013, the company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, AVIC International Ship Development
Pte Ltd was granted a shareholder’s loan amounting to US$3,250,000 (equivalent to RMB19,865,000)
from an immediate holding company, AVIC Kairong with a loan tenure of three years. The loan is
interest-free, unsecured and repayment terms will be negotiated six months before the end of the loan
tenure.
FRS 39 Financial Instrument : Recognition and Measurement requires certain categories of financial
assets and liabilities to be measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Accordingly, the shareholder’s loan amounting to RMB19,865,000
(2012 : RMBNil) is carried at amortised cost of RMB18,520,000 (2012 : RMBNil) as at December 31, 2013,
based on a market prime rate of 3.25% (2012 : Nil%) per annum. The excess of nominal value over
fair value of the shareholder’s loan amounting to RMB1,867,000 (2012: RMBNil) has been recorded in
capital reserve. The corresponding interest expenses adjustment of RMB522,000 (2012 : RMBNil) has
been taken to profit or loss as deemed interest expense charged by an immediate holding company.
(2) Term loan
On December 12, 2012, AVIC Kairong (Note 5), an immediate holding company, entered into a facility
agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) with Industrial Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
(the “Bank”), pursuant to which the bank shall grant AVIC Kairong a term loan of Euro 26,000,000
(RMB216,406,000) at the interest rate of 3% per annum. On 20 December 2012, the company and AVIC
Kairong entered into a deed of assignment (the “Assignment”), pursuant to which AVIC Kairong shall
assign rights and benefits under the Facility Agreement to the company subject to the terms and conditions
contained in the Assignment. Under the Assignment, the company also agreed to pay the Bank such
amounts which may be chargeable by the Bank on the terms and conditions as set out under the Facility
Agreement.
The loan is secured by a standby letter of credit issued by Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Limited, Beijing branch for an aggregate amount of not less than RMB230,000,000. The loan is due for
repayment with three instalments. (1) 10% to be paid 12 months after the date of first drawdown; (2)
20% to be paid 24 months after the date of first drawdown; and (3) 70% of the principal to be paid in
three years from the date of the loan drawdown. The loan was drawn down directly from the bank on
December 20, 2012 and first loan principal repayment amounted Euro 2,600,000 (equivalent to
RMB21,657,000) was made on December 20, 2013.

Trade payables to third parties
Accrued amount payable to an outside party
Amount due to customer on construction contract

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

8,837
21,406
30,243

30,187
30,187

Amounts due to customer on construction contract:
Group

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits
Less: Progress Billings

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

335,974
(357,380)
(21,406)

-

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days. No interest is charged on the outstanding balance.
19 ADVANCE RECEIVED
Group

Advance received from:
third parties
related companies (Note 5)

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

36,614
2,489
39,103

23,291
23,291

20 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
Group

Accrued expenses
Other payables due to:
an intermediate holding company (Note 5)
an immediate holding company (Note 5)
a related company (Note 5)
Interest payable to bank
Other tax payable
Others
Total other payables and accruals

2013
RMB’000
45,374

2012
RMB’000
4,231

5,710
18,670
60
2,937
4,600
77,351

1,866
5,509
26
196
2,149
536
14,513

Company
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000
5,067
2,912
13,094
60
18,221

5,509
196
238
8,855

Management is of the view that the carrying amount of the above loan approximates its fair value based
on the borrowing rates currently available for bank loans with similar terms and maturity and the interest
rates approximate the market interest rates.
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21 FINANCE LEASES

23 RESERVES (cont’d)
Group
Present value of minimum
Minimum lease payments
lease payments
2013
2012
2013
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000
RMB’000
RMB’000

The profit arrived at must be set-off against any accumulated losses sustained by the subsidiaries and
associates in prior years, before allocation is made to the statutory reserve. Appropriation to the subsidiary
reserve must be made before distribution of dividends to shareholders. The appropriation is required until the
statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. This statutory reserve is not distributable in the form of
cash dividends.
Translation reserve

Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

1,049
888
1,937
(81)
1,856

Less: future finance charges
Present value of lease obligations
Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months (shown under current liabilities)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months

-

1,018
838
1,856
1,856

-

(1,018)
838

-

It is the group’s policy to lease certain of its plant and equipment under finance leases. The average lease
term is 4 years. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the average effective borrowing rate was 2.98%
(2012: Nil%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract date, and thus expose the group to fair value interest rate risk.
All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental
payments.
All lease obligations are denominated in Euro.

The translation reserve account comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations and translation of the financial statements for presenting in RMB.
24 REVENUE
Group

Shipbuilding revenue
Service fee income
Management service fee
Ship design fee income
Other income
Total revenue

2012
RMB’000

235,233
32,120
26,010
288,347
19,596
601,306

101,217
27,053
11,328
139,598

25 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

The fair value of the group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amount.

Group

The group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.
22 SHARE CAPITAL
Group and company
2013
2012
2013
Number of ordinary shares
RMB’000
Issued and paid up:
At beginning and end of the year

2013
RMB’000

285,576,000

285,576,000

101,237

2012
RMB’000

Net foreign exchange gain
Government grants
Net fair value gain on financial instrument
Other income
Interest income

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

562
73
1,278
2,351
4,264

2,050
898
2,948

101,237
26 FINANCE COSTS

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as
and when declared by the company.

Group

23 RESERVES
Capital reserve
Capital reserve represents a deemed contribution from the immediate holding company as a result of initially
measuring the shareholder’s loan at fair value.
Statutory reserve
The subsidiaries follow the accounting principles and relevant financial regulations of the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC GAAP”) applicable to Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises in the preparation of the
accounting records and statutory financial statements.

Interest on shareholder’s loan(1)
Interest on term loans (Note 17)
Bank charges
Withholding tax on term loans interest
Others

(1)

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

5,072
6,499
522
1,188
23
13,304

1,317
1,593
138
3,048

This includes both interest payable and deemed interest expenses.

Appropriation to the statutory reserve by the Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise is determined at 10%
of the profit arrived in accordance with PRC GAAP for each year.
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27 INCOME TAX

28 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Group

Current tax expense
Deferred tax benefit

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

15,331
(73)
15,258

5,445
5,445

Singapore income tax is calculated at 17% of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions as explained below.
Pursuant to the new PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law promulgated on March 16, 2007, the enterprise income tax
for both domestic and foreign-invested enterprises are unified at 25% effective from January 1, 2008.
The corporate income tax rate in Finland is 24.5% and will be reduced to 20.0% with effect from January 1, 2014.
The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the above
income tax rate to profit before tax as a result of the following differences:
Group

Profit before income tax
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to the countries
where the group operates
Utilisation of deferred tax benefits previously not recognised
Non-deductible items
Deferred tax benefits not recognised
Effect of revenue that is exempt from taxation
Effect of tax rebate and exemption
Others
Total

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

21,211

13,242

8,015
(1)
7,446
205
(335)
(127)
55
15,258

3,311
(159)
2,148
12
133
5,445

In 2013, the group has undistributed profits of RMB49,262,000 (2012 : RMB42,859,000). Dividends declared
in respects of the undistributed profits will be subject to withholding tax of 5% for PRC subsidiaries and 15%
for Finnish subsidiary. The potential deferred tax liability of approximately RMB8,095,000 (2012 : RMB3,659,000)
has not been recognised as management is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
At the end of the reporting period, the group has unutilised tax losses of RMB1,206,000 (2012: RMB70,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

Group

Directors’ remuneration:
Of the company
Of the subsidiaries
Employees benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration)
Cost of defined contribution plans (included in employee benefits expense)
Audit fees:
Paid to auditors of the company
Paid to other auditors
Other assurance service fees:
Paid to auditors of the company
Paid to other auditors
Non-audit fees:
Paid to auditors of the company
Paid to other auditors
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Plant and equipment written off
Amortisation of intangible assets
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment
Bad debt written off
Net foreign exchage loss (gain)
Interest expense

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

3,344
2,236
71,026
6,155

2,539
1,913
13,852
1,947

1,639
1,194

656
460

248
297

328
303

136
733
3,912
218
3,712
(189)
1,043
24,632
11,571

44
1,344
32
(2,050)
2,910

29 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to owners of the
company of RMB2,120,000 (2012 : RMB7,797,000) and weighted average number of 285,576,000 (2012 :
285,576,000) ordinary shares.
30 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
On 4 January 2013, the group acquired 79.57% of the issued share capital of Deltamarin Oy (“Deltamarin”) for
an aggregate consideration of Euro 25,980,000 (RMB214,866,000). This transaction has been accounted for by
the acquisition method of accounting.
Deltamarin is a limited liability company incorporated in Finland with its principal activity of provision of
design, engineering and contracting services for offshore, shipping, shipbuilding naval and marine industries.
The acquisition of Deltamarin will enable the group to acquire ship design capabilities, and is part of the
group’s acquisition growth strategy to be a dominant player in the shipping industry.

AVIC INTERNATIONAL MARITIME HOLDINGS LIMITED

87

AVIC International Maritime Holdings Limited

AVIC International Maritime Holdings Limited

(Formerly Known As AVIC International Investments Limited)

(Formerly Known As AVIC International Investments Limited)

Notes to Financial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements

30 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (cont’d)

30 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (cont’d)
As at 31 December 2012, the group had cash held in trust by a third party lawyer for the acquisition of
EUR25,980,000 (RMB 216,618,000). On 4 January 2013 (the acquisition date), the amount of cash held in trust of
EUR25,980,000 (RMB214,866,000) was paid out for the completion of the acquisition of Deltamarin.

The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition were as follows:
Deltamarin Oy
2013
RMB’000
Tangible assets and liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents
Plant and machineries
Investment in associates
Intangible assets (software license)
Available-for-sale investments
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred tax liabilities
Other assets and liabilities
Intangible assets identified
Brand name
Technical knowhow
Net assets acquired and liabilities assumed

44,346
4,413
3,232
2,391
327
84
(25,643)
19,691
48,841
55,175
40,651
144,667

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration transferred
Plus: Non-controlling interest(1)
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired
Goodwill arising on acquisition
(1)

2013
RMB’000
214,866
50,692
(144,667)
120,891

The non-controlling interest recognised at the fair value.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Deltamarin because the cost of the combination included a control premium.
In addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of
expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled workforce of Deltamarin.
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.
The group also acquired the customer lists and customer relationships of Deltamarin as part of the acquisition. These
assets could not be separately recognised from goodwill because they are not capable of being separated
from the group and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together with any related
contracts. Consequently, they are subsumed into goodwill.

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the group
Included in the profit for the year is RMB27.0 million attributable to the additional business generated
by Deltamarin. Revenue for the period from Deltamarin amounted RMB288.3 million. Had the business
combination during the year been effected at January 1, 2013, the impact on group’s revenue and profit for
the year from continuing operations would be insignificant as the acquisition took place on January 4, 2013.
31 SEGMENT INFORMATION
For the purpose of the resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the group’s chief
operating decision makers have focused on the business operating units which in turn, are segregated based
on their services. This forms the basis of identifying the segments of the group under FRS 108 - Operating Segments.
Operating segments are aggregated into a single operating segment if they have similar economic
characteristics.
The group’s reportable operating segments under FRS 108 are as follows:
(a) Shipbuilding project management service - provision of shipbuilding project management and
consultancy services.
(b) Marketing and consulting service - services rendered in respect to marketing and consulting activities.
(c) Shipbuilding construction service – provision of shipbuilding construction services.
(d) Ship design service – provision of ship design services.
(e) Others – sale of steel used in shipbuilding
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the group’s accounting policies
described in Note 2. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of
share of profits of joint venture, finance income, finance costs, and income tax expense. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the chief
operating decision maker monitors the tangible and financial assets attributable to each segment.
Goodwill has been allocated to reportable segments as described in Note 12. Assets used jointly by
reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable segments.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiary

Consideration paid in cash
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired
Less: decrease in cash held in trust

2013
RMB’000
(214,866)
44,346
214,866
44,346
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31 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

31 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

Segment revenues and results

Segment assets and liabilities and other segment information

Information regarding the group’s reportable segments is presented as below:

Group

Shipbuilding
project Shipbuilding Marketing and
consulting Ship design
management construction
service
service
Others
Total
service
service
RMB’000
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RMB’000
RMB’000

2013
REVENUE
External
Related companies
RESULT
Segment result
Unallocated other operating income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

5,901
26,219
32,120

235,232
235,232

2,831
23,179
26,010

286,228
2,120
288,348

14,914
4,682
19,596

545,106
56,200
601,306

4,038

11,382

3,195

35,576

1,026

55,217
2,802
(23,698)
(13,110)
21,211
(15,258)
5,953

Group

Shipbuilding
project Shipbuilding Marketing and
consulting Ship design
management construction
service
service
Others
Total
service
service
RMB’000
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RMB’000
RMB’000

2013
ASSETS
Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities

Group

527

-

11,662

282,170

17,467

311,826
488,755
800,581

4,120

16,824

36,139

60,461

-

117,544
440,514
558,058

Shipbuilding
project
management
service
RMB’000

Shipbuilding
construction
service
RMB’000

Marketing and
consulting
service
RMB’000

-

1,044

-

Total
RMB’000

2012

Group

Shipbuilding
project
management
service
RMB’000

Shipbuilding
construction
service
RMB’000

Marketing and
consulting
service
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

2012
REVENUE
External
Related companies
RESULT
Segment result
Unallocated other operating income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

ASSETS
Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets

1,044
586,376
587,420

In 2012, liabilities were not allocated as they were not monitored by the chief operating decision maker for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
170
26,883
27,053
7,540

101,217
101,217
8,752

11,328
11,328
3,157

101,387
38,211
139,598
19,449
2,948
(6,107)
(3,048)
13,242
(5,445)
7,797

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external and internal customers. Segment profits
represent the profit earned by each segment after allocating central administrative costs. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and the assessment of
segment performance.

Other segment information

Group

Shipbuilding
project
management
service
RMB’000

Shipbuilding Marketing and
consulting
construction
service
service
RMB’000
RMB’000

Ship design
service
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

2013
Depreciation and amortisation

793

-

641

6,190

7,624

Additions to non-current assets

-

-

-

228,769

228,769

Unallocated additions to
non-current assets

9,711
238,480
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31 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

32 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
Group

Other segment information (cont’d)

Group

Shipbuilding
project
management
service
RMB’000

Shipbuilding
construction
service
RMB’000

Marketing and
consulting
service
RMB’000

947

-

397

2012
Depreciation and amortisation
Unallocated additions to non-current assets

Total
RMB’000
1,344
356

Minimum lease payments under operating lease
recognised as an expense in the year

China
Iraq
Finland
Norway
Malaysia
Singapore
Others

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

228,104
235,232
32,897
19,264
16,949
5,824
63,036
601,306

38,381
101,217
139,598

75
223,632
2,002
225,709

44
3,507
3,551

The group’s revenue generated from the group’s largest customers by each segment are detailed below:
2013

Customer 1
Customer 2
Customer 3
Customer 4
Customer 5
Customer 6
Customer 7
Customer 8
Total

26,214
26,214

2012

Shipbuilding Marketing and
construction
consulting
service
service
RMB’000
RMB’000
235,232
235,232

14,448
14,448

Shipbuilding
project
Ship design
service management
RMB’000
service
RMB’000
26,322
17,226
16,563
60,111

5,448

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After five years

2013
RMB’000

2012
RMB’000

16,256
44,737
19,685
80,678

4,288
4,060
8,348

Non-current assets

Information about major customers

Shipbuilding
project
management
service
RMB’000

15,166

Group

Group
Revenue

2012
RMB’000

At the end of the financial year, the group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating
leases, which fall due as follows:

Geographical information
The group’s revenue from customers and information about its segment assets by geographical location are
detailed below:

2013
RMB’000

19,055
170
7,828
27,053

Shipbuilding Marketing and
construction
consulting
service
service
RMB’000
RMB’000
101,217
101,217

11,328
11,328

33 RECLASSIFICATIONS
(a) The method of analysis of expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income has been changed from presentation by the nature of expenses to presentation
by their function, in accordance with FRS 1 (revised) – Presentation of Financial Statements. The change of
classification method is to provide information that is more relevant. Certain reclassifications have been
made to the prior year’s financial statements as follows:
After
Previously
reported reclassifications
2012
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000
Marketing and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Employee benefits expense
Travelling and entertainment expenses
Office rental and office expenses
Other operating expenses

(13,852)
(2,681)
(6,107)
(11,151)

(11,872)
(21,919)
-

(b) Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to enhance comparability
with the current year’s presentation.
The items were reclassified as follow:
After
Previously
reported reclassifications
2012
2012
RMB’000
RMB’000
Consolidated statement of cash flows
Proceeds from shareholder’s loan
New loans raised

369,473

151,204
218,269
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As at 28 March 2014
Class of shares
No. of Shares (excluding treasury shares)
Voting Rights

:
:
:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of AVIC International Maritime Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) will be held at Raffles Town Club, 1 Plymouth Avenue, Dunearn 3, Level 1, Singapore 297753 on
Tuesday, 29 April 2013 at 3.00 pm for the following purposes:

Ordinary Shares
285,576,000
One vote per share

As Ordinary Business

As at 21 March 2013, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

1.

To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial (Resolution 1)
year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”), together with the Reports of the Directors and
Auditors thereon.

2.

To approve the Directors’ Fees of S$263,000 for FY2013.

3.

To re-elect Mr Teng Cheong Kwee, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s (Resolution 3)
Articles of Association, and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election.
[Explanatory Note (i)]

4.

To re-elect Mr Chong Teck Sin, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s (Resolution 4)
Articles of Association, and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election.
[Explanatory Note (ii)]

5.

To re-elect Mr Wang Puqu, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s (Resolution 5)
Articles of Association, and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election.
[Explanatory Note (iii)]

6.

To re-elect Mr Huang Guang, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s (Resolution 6)
Articles of Association, and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election.
[Explanatory Note (iv)]

7.

To re-elect Mr Sun Yan, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s (Resolution 7)
Articles of Association, and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election.
[Explanatory Note (v)]

8.

To re-elect Mr Li Meijin, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles (Resolution 8)
of Association, and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election.
[Explanatory Note (vi)]

9.

To re-elect Mr Huang Yongfeng, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s (Resolution 9)
Articles of Association, and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election.
[Explanatory Note (vii)]

10.

To re-elect Mr Wang Mingchuan, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s (Resolution 10)
Articles of Association, and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election.
[Explanatory Note (viii)]

11.

To re-elect Mr Liu Aiyi, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s (Resolution 11)
Articles of Association, and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election.
[Explanatory Note (ix)]

12.

To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the (Resolution 12)
Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
1 - 999

NO. OF
SHAREHOLDERS
3,838

%
91.06

NO. OF
SHARES
723,496

%
0.25

300

7.12

704,175

0.25

71

1.68

7,038,030

2.46

6

0.14

277,110,299

97.04

4,215

100.00

285,576,000

100.00

1,000 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 AND ABOVE
TOTAL :
TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
NO.

NAME

NO. OF SHARES

%

1.

UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED

211,041,130

73.90

2.

DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD

29,410,109

10.30

3.

DMG & PARTNERS SECURITIES PTE LTD

19,020,201

6.66

4.

CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD

8,248,162

2.89

5.

HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD

7,033,016

2.46

6.

RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED

2,357,681

0.83

7.

LIM TECK CHAY

800,000

0.28

8.

DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD

679,724

0.24

9.

DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

511,892

0.18

10.

MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD

461,636

0.16

11.

OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED

392,125

0.14

12.

PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD

363,923

0.13

13.

PHUA GIM CHUAN

291,000

0.10

14.

PEH HOCK CHOON

280,140

0.10

15.

CHICKEN DELIGHT PRIVATE LIMITED

202,000

0.07

16.

TANG CHWOON HWEE

161,000

0.06

17.

LIM JEN JONG

160,000

0.06

18.

SUNG CHIN WAH

140,055

0.05

19.

UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

126,889

0.04

20.

MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (SINGAPORE) SECURITIES PTE LTD

126,326

0.04

281,807,009

98.69

NO. OF SHARES

%

210,947,369

73.87

TOTAL :

(Resolution 2)

Substantial Shareholders As At 28 March 2014

(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

NAME
AVIC International Kairong Limited

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information provided, to the best knowledge of the Directors and the substantial shareholder of the
Company, approximately 26.13% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company was held in the hands of the public
as at 28 March 2014. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
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14.

As Special Business:
To consider and if deemed fit to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions with or without modifications:
13.

THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing
Manual of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is
hereby given to the Directors of the Company to allot and issue whether by way of bonus
or otherwise, (i) shares; (ii) convertible securities; (iii) additional convertible securities (where
an adjustment, to the number of convertible securities to which a holder is originally entitled
to, is necessary as a result of any rights, bonus or other capitalization issues by the Company),
notwithstanding that such authority may have ceased to be in force at the time such
additional convertible securities are issued, provided that the adjustment does not give the
holder of the convertible securities a benefit that a shareholder does not receive; and/or
(iv) shares arising from the conversion of securities in (ii) and additional convertible securities
in (iii) above, notwithstanding that such authority may have ceased to be in force at the
time the shares are to be issued, and any such issue may be made at any time and upon
such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the
Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit,

(ii) the IPT Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting,
continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company.
(iii) the Audit Committee of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take such action
as it deems proper in respect of such procedures and/or modify or implement such
procedures as may be necessary to take into consideration any amendment to
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual which may be prescribed by the SGX-ST from time
to time; and

PROVIDED THAT:
(i) the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be issued pursuant to
this Resolution shall not exceed 50% of the total number of the issued shares (excluding
treasury shares) of the Company, of which the aggregate number of shares and
convertible securities issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of
the Company shall not exceed 20% of the total number of the issued shares (excluding
treasury shares) of the Company;

(iv) the Directors of the Company and any of them be and are hereby authorised to
complete and do all such acts and things (including, without limitation, execution of
all such documents as may be required) as they or he may consider expedient or
necessary or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the transactions
contemplated and/or authorised by the IPT Mandate and/or this Resolution.

(ii) subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST, for the
purpose of this Resolution, the percentage of the issued share capital shall be based on
the Company’s total number of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares, if any) at
the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:
(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;
(b) new shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of share awards outstanding
or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the options or
awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual
of the SGX-ST; and
(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;
(iii) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with
the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such
compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time
being of the Company; and

(Resolution 14)

That:
(i) approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual
(“Chapter 9”) of the SGX-ST, in particular for the purposes of Rule 920 of the Listing
Manual in relation to a general mandate from the Shareholders, for the Company, its
subsidiaries and associated companies that are entities at risk (as that term is used in
Chapter 9), or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions falling within the types
of interested person transactions described in the Company’s Circular to Shareholders
dated 14 April 2014 (the “Circular”) with the AVIC Group (as defined therein), provided
that such transactions are made on normal commercial terms and in accordance with
the review procedures for such interested person transactions as set out in the Circular
(the “IPT Mandate”);

(Resolution 13)

Share Issue Mandate

THE PROPOSED ADOPTION OF THE INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS MANDATE

[Explanatory Note (xi)]
15.

To transact any other ordinary business that may properly be transacted at an Annual
General Meeting.

By Order of the Board
Yap Lian Seng
Company Secretary
Singapore, 14 April 2014

(iv) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall
continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is
required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.
[Explanatory Note (x)]
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Explanatory Notes:
(i)

(b) new shares arising from the exercise of share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting
at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the options or awards were granted in
compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST; and

Resolution 3: Pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Teng Cheong Kwee will
retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that
meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as the Lead Independent Director of the Company, the Chairman of
the Nominating Committee, and a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.
(xi)

(ii)

Resolution 4: Pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Chong Teck Sin will retire
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that
meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as an Independent Director of the Company, the Chairman of the
Audit Committee, and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nominating Committee.

(iii)

Resolution 5: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Wang Puqu will retire at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting.
If re-elected, he will remain as an Independent Director of the Company.

(iv)

Resolution 6: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Huang Guang will retire
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that
meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as an Non-Executive Director of the Company.

(v)

Resolution 7: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Sun Yan will retire at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting.
If re-elected, he will remain as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

(vi)

Resolution 8: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Li Meijin will retire at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting.
If re-elected, he will remain as an Executive Director of the Company.

(vii)

Resolution 9: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Huang Yongfeng will retire
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that
meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as a Non-Executive Director of the Company.

(viii)

Resolution 10: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Wang Mingchuan will
retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at
that meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as a Non-Executive Director of the Company.

(ix)

Resolution 11: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Liu Aiyi will retire at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting.
If re-elected, he will remain as a Non-Executive Director of the Company.

(x)

Resolution 13: If passed, this Resolution will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or until the date by which the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or untill such authority is varied or
revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant offers,
agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such
Instruments, up to a number not exceeding in total 50% of the issued share capital of the Company
(excluding treasury shares, if any), of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to
shareholders.

Resolution 14: Ordinary Resolution 14 is to approve the modifications to, and renewal of the IPT Mandate.
A shareholders’ mandate for interested person transactions was first given by the shareholders of the
Company on 26 April 2012, and such mandate was thereafter renewed at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 25 April 2013, allowing the Company, its subsidiaries and associated
companies to enter into transactions with the interested persons as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual of the SGX-ST. Please refer to the Circular annexed to the Annual Report of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2013 for more information.

Notes:
1.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint not more than
two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf and where a member appoints more than one proxy, the
proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the
Member Proxy Form. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. The instrument appointing a
proxy must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 10 Collyer Quay, #27-00 Ocean Financial
Centre, Singapore 049315 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for the holding of the
Annual General Meeting.

2.

If a member is unable to attend the Annual General Meeting and wishes to appoint a proxy to attend
and vote at the Annual General Meeting in his stead, then he should complete and sign the relevant
Member Proxy Form and deposit the duly completed Member Proxy Form at Company’s registered office
at 10 Collyer Quay, #27-00 Ocean Financial Centre, Singapore 049315 not later than forty-eight (48) hours
before the time set for the holding of the Annual General Meeting.

3.

A Depositor whose name appears in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies
Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore) as at a time not earlier than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time of the
Annual General Meeting who/which is (i) an individual but is unable to attend the Annual General Meeting
personally and wishes to appoint a nominee to attend and vote; or (ii) a corporation, must complete,
sign and return the Depositor Proxy Form and deposit the duly completed Depositor Proxy Form at the
Company’s registered office at 10 Collyer Quay, #27-00 Ocean Financial Centre, Singapore 049315, at least
forty-eight (48) hours before the time of the Annual General Meeting.

4.

If a member who has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and Shares registered
in his name in the Register of Members of the Company is unable to attend the Annual General Meeting
and wishes to appoint a proxy, he should use the Depositor Proxy Form and the Member Proxy Form for,
respectively, the Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and the shares registered in his
name in the Register of Members of the Company.

5.

A Depositor who is an individual and whose name is shown in the Depository Register as at a time not
earlier than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time of the Annual General Meeting and who wishes to
attend the Annual General Meeting in person need not take any further action and can attend and vote
at the Annual General Meeting as CDP’s proxy without the lodgment of any proxy.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares
will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (excluding
treasury shares, if any) at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:
(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;
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AVIC INTERNATIONAL MARITIME HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Registration No. 201024137N)

PROXY FORM – ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies
to buy shares in the capital of AVIC
INTERNATIONAL MARITIME HOLDINGS LIMITED,
this report is forwarded to them at the request
of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent
FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF
investors and shall be ineffective for all intents
and purposes if used or purported to be used
by them.

I/We*,

(name)

of
(address)
being a member/members of AVIC INTERNATIONAL MARITIME HOLDINGS LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name

Address

NRIC/Passport No.

Address

NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares

%

and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name

Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares

%

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at
the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Raffles Town Club, 1 Plymouth Avenue, Dunearn 3, Level 1, Singapore 297753, on Tuesday, 29 April 2013 at 3.00 pm and at any
adjournment thereof.
(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the resolutions as set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the
absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as *he/they may think fit, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting)

ORDINARY BUSINESS
Resolution 1
Resolution 2
Resolution 3
Resolution 4
Resolution 5
Resolution 6

For

Resolution 7

To re-elect Mr Sun Yan, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles
of Association.

Resolution 8

To re-elect Mr Li Meijin, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles
of Association.
To re-elect Mr Huang Yongfeng, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
To re-elect Mr Wang Mingchuan, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
To re-elect Mr Liu Aiyi, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles
of Association.
To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the
Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration.

Resolution 9
Resolution 10
Resolution 11
Resolution 12

Against

To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2013 (“FY2013”), together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.
To approve the Directors’ Fees of S$263,000 for FY2013.
To re-elect Mr Teng Cheong Kwee, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
To re-elect Mr Chong Teck Sin, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
To re-elect Mr Wang Puqu, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
To re-elect Mr Huang Guang, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
Resolution 13
Resolution 14

To approve and adopt the Share Issue Mandate.
To approve and adopt the proposed modifications to and renewal of the IPT Mandate

Date this

day of

2014
Total Number of Shares held in:
CDP Register

Signature(s) of members(s) or Common Seal
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Register of Members

* Delete where applicable

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THE NOTES OVERLEAF
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NOTES:
1.

Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50), you should insert that number of shares.
If you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number of
shares. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the
Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be
deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company is entitled to
appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.

Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the member must specify the proportion of shareholdings (expressed as a
percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. If no proportion of shareholdings is specified, the proxy whose
name appears first shall be deemed to carry 100 per cent of the shareholdings of his appointor and the proxy whose name
appears after shall be deemed to be appointed in the alternate.

4.

If the instrument appointing a proxy is returned without any indication as to how the proxy shall vote, the proxy shall vote or
abstain as he thinks fit.

5.

If the instrument appointing a proxy is returned without the name of the proxy indicated, the instrument appointing a proxy
shall be invalid.

6.

If the appointor is an individual, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be signed by the appointor or his attorney.

7.

If the appointor is a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be either given under its common seal or signed
on its behalf by an attorney or a duly authorised officer of the corporation. A corporation which is a member may
authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the
meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

8.

The signature on the instrument appointing a proxy need not be witnessed. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is
signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must
(failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument appointing a proxy, failing which the
instrument may be treated as invalid.

9.

The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 10 Collyer Quay, #27-00 Ocean
Financial Centre, Singapore 049315, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding of the Annual
General Meeting or adjourned meeting or (in the case of a poll taken otherwise than at or on the same day as the meeting
or adjourned meeting) for the taking of the poll at which it is to be used.

General:
The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly
completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor
specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the
Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown
to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for
holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

Registration Number: 201024137N
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